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Preface and acknowledgements

Our objective is to provide a balanced and comprehensive framework to enable students
to acquire the requisite knowledge and skills to appraise current practice critically and to
evaluate proposed changes from a theoretical base. To this end, the text contains:

@ current standards,

@ illustrations from published accounts,

® a range of review questions,

@ cxercises of varying difficulty,

@ outline solutions to selected exercises in an Appendix at the end of the book,
® cxtensive references.

We have assumed that readers will have an understanding of financial accounting to a
foundation or first-year level, although the text and exercises have been designed on the
basis that a brief revision is still helpful.

Lecturers are using the text selectively to support a range of teaching programmes for
second-year and final-year undergraduate and postgraduate programmes. We have there-
fore attempted to provide subject coverage of sufficient breadth and depth to assist selec-

tive use.
The text has been adopted for financial accounting, reporting and analysis modules on:

® sccond-year undergraduate courses for Accounting, Business Studies and Combined
Studies;

o final-year undergraduate courses for Accounting, Business Studies and Combined
Studies;

® MBA courses;
@ specialist MSc courses; and

@ professional courses preparing students for professional accountancy examinations.

Changes to the first edition

Chapters 1-5 have been omitted in response to comments from a number of reviewers
of the first edition. Our emphasis has been throughout to maintain an up-to-date cover-
age of International Standards with clear explanations and review questions to encourage
critical appraisal and illustrations supported by graded exercises that allow students to
develop their financial accounting skills.
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There is a growing capability for companies to be able to report on the Internet in a
manner that facilitates comparative analysis of financial statements. We have therefore
included a new chapter (Chapter 24) that provides an introduction to financial reporting
on the Internet — this chapter has been kindly contributed by Hendrika Tibbits who has
been closely involved with the development of XBRL in Australia.

Accounting standards

Topics and International Standards are covered as follows:

Chapter 3 Published accounts of companies IAS 1, TAS 14, TAS 37, IFRS 1 and
IFRS 5

Chapter 4 Preparation of published accounts IAS 1, TAS 8, TAS 24 and IAS 35

Chapter 6 Off balance sheet finance TAS 37

Chapter 7 Financial instruments TAS 32 and TAS 39

Chapter 8 Employee benefits TAS 19 and IAS 26

Chapter 9 Taxation in company accounts IAS 12

Chapter 10 Property, plant and equipment (PPE) TAS 16, TIAS 20, IAS 23, TAS 36,
IAS 40 and IFRS 5

Chapter 11 Leasing IAS 17
Chapter 12 R&D; goodwill and intangible assets; IAS 38 and IFRS 3
brands

Chapter 13 Inventories IAS 2

Chapter 14 Construction contracts IAS 11

Chapters 15 to 19 Consolidation TAS 21, TAS 27, TAS 28, TAS 31 and
IFRS 3

Chapter 20 Earnings per share IAS 33

Chapter 21 Cash flow statements IAS 7

Chapter 25 Corporate governance IFRS 2

Our emphasis has been on keeping the text current and responsive to constructive
comments from reviewers.

Recent developments

In addition to the steps being taken towards the development of IFRSs that will receive
broad consensus support, regulators have been active in developing further requirements
concerning corporate governance. These have been prompted by the accounting scandals
in the USA and, more recently, in Europe and by shareholder activism fuelled by the
apparent lack of any relationship between increases in directors’ remuneration and com-
pany performance.

The content of financial reports continues to be subjected to discussion with a tension
between preparers, stakeholders, auditors, academic accountants and standard setters; this
is mirrored in the tension that exists between theory and practice.

® Preparers favour reporting transactions on a historical cost basis which is reliable but
does not provide shareholders with relevant information to appraise past performance
or to predict future earnings.

@ Stakeholders favour forward-looking reports relevant in estimating future dividend and
capital growth and in understanding environmental and social impacts.
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® Auditors favour reports that are verifiable so that the figures can be substantiated to
avoid them being proved wrong at a later date.

® Academic accountants favour reports that reflect economic reality and are relevant in
appraising management performance and in assessing the capacity of the company to
adapt.

@ Standard setters lean towards the academic view and favour reporting according to the
commercial substance of a transaction.
In order to understand the tensions that exist, students need:

o the skill to prepare financial statements in accordance with the historical cost and
current cost conventions, both of which appear in annual financial reports;

@ an understanding of the main thrust of mandatory and voluntary standards;

@ an understanding of the degree of flexibility available to the preparers and the impact
of this on reported earnings and the balance sheet figures;

@ an understanding of the limitations of these financial reports in portraying economic
reality; and

® an exposure to source material and other published material in so far as time permits.

Instructor’s Manual

Website

A separate Instructor’s Manual has been written to accompany this text. It contains fully
worked solutions to all the exercises and is of a quality that allows them to be used as
overhead transparencies. The Manual is available at no cost to lecturers on application to
the publishers.

An electronic version of the Manual 1is also available for download at
www.pearsoned.co.uk/elliott_elliott.
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CHAPTER

Financial reporting — evolution of
international standards

.1 Introduction

The importance of regulating financial reporting is to ensure all companies in a country
present similar transactions in a consistent fashion. The pace of internationalisation of
trade and investment has accelerated in recent years. This has been accompanied by calls
for financial reports to be comparable internationally. This chapter describes the evolu-
tion of international standards by examining the following:

National differences

Reasons for differences in financial reporting
Classification of national accounting systems
Attempts to reduce national differences

The work of international standard setters
US GAAP

Reconciliation and supplementary statements.

1.2 National differences

We are all familiar with national differences that have become almost stereotypes.
Consider Singapore, for example, which has been described as

a highly-developed, very successful free-market economy with one of the highest per
capita GDPs in the world ... a country developed largely by immigrants ... pragmatic
.. a sense of self-reliance, independence, and a will to succeed ... a remarkably open
and corruption-free society, with a low crime rate and stable prices.!

Consider also the French, for example, who are described as

proud, patriotic, sardonic people driven by a clear sense of their own greatness ...
social interactions are profoundly affected by social stereotypes ... status depends to a
great degree on family origins ... outward signs of social status are the individual’s
level of education, a tasteful house or flat, and knowledge of literature and fine arts.
But the all important structure within which the system operates depends on each
individual’s family origins.’

It is natural that such strongly felt influences as family origin should be reflected in the
way business is structured. This can be seen in the extent of family firms in France, with
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a large proportion of all businesses family owned, run, or dominated through major
shareholdings, and in the strongly autocratic style of management.

On the other hand, it is pointed out that

maximising profitability is not always the German’s first priority. As in the case of
many other Europeans, Germans often feel that the firm has a responsibility to
society and the environment.?

How do national differences affect financial reporting?

The French business structure indicates that the owners are also frequently the managers.
This is different from the UK where there is separation of ownership and management.
Consequently, in France, there is far less need for regulations to ensure that financial
reports present a true and fair view; the emphasis is not so much on attempting to
compensate for potential conflicts of interest between owners and managers as ensuring
that the financial reports are accurate.

However, this is only one aspect. There are many other differences in economic and
cultural conditions, which have led to an array of different financial reporting practices
around the world. An understanding of this improves the awareness of potential
misinterpretation when appraising financial statements prepared in other countries. It is
useful to appreciate the reasons for these variations in order to improve understanding of
the business activities represented by the accounts.

1.3 Reasons for differences in financial reporting

1.3.1

A number of attempts have been made to identify reasons for differences in financial
reporting.* The issue is far from clear but most writers agree that the following are among
the main factors influencing the development of financial reporting:

@ the character of the national legal system

o the way in which industry is financed

o the relationship of the tax and reporting systems

o the influence and status of the accounting profession
@ the extent to which accounting theory is developed
@ accidents of history

® language.

We will consider the effect of each of these.

The character of the national legal system

There are two major legal systems, that based on common law and that based on Roman
law. It is important to recognise this because the legal systems influence the way in which
behaviour in a country, including accounting and financial reporting, is regulated.
Countries with a legal system based on common law include England and Wales,
Ireland, the United States, Australia, Canada and New Zealand. These countries rely on
the application of equity to specific cases rather than a set of detailed rules to be applied
in all cases. The effect in the UK, as far as financial reporting was concerned, was that
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there was limited legislation regulating the form and content of financial statements until
the government was required to implement the EC Fourth Directive. The Directive was
implemented in the UK by the passing of the Companies Act 1981 and this can be seen
as a watershed because it was the first time that the layout of company accounts had been
prescribed by statute in England and Wales.

English common law heritage was accommodated within the legislation by the
provision that the detailed regulations of the Act should not be applied if, in the
judgement of the directors, strict adherence to the Act would result in financial
statements that did not present a true and fair view.

Countries with a legal system based on Roman law include France, Germany and
Japan. These countries rely on the codification of detailed rules, which are often included
within their companies legislation. The result is that there is less flexibility in the
preparation of financial reports in those countries. They are less inclined to look to fine
distinctions to justify different reporting treatments in the way that is inherent in the
common law approach.

However, it is not just that common law countries have fewer codified laws than
Roman law countries. There is a fundamental difference in the way in which the
reporting of commercial transactions is approached. In the common law countries there
is an established practice of creative compliance. By this we mean that the spirit of the
law is elusive’ and management is more inclined to act with creative compliance in order
to escape effective legal control. By creative compliance we mean that management
complies with the form of the regulation but in a way that might be against its spirit,
e.g. structuring leasing agreements in the most acceptable way for financial reporting
purposes.

The way in which industry is financed

Accountancy is the art of communicating relevant financial information about a business
entity to users. One of the considerations to take into account when deciding what is
relevant is the way in which the business has been financed, e.g. the information needs
of equity investors will be different from those of loan creditors. This is one factor
responsible for international financial reporting differences because the predominant
provider of capital is different in different countries.® Figure 1.1 makes a simple
comparison between domestic equity market capitalisation and Gross Domestic Product
(GDP).” The higher the ratio, the greater the importance of the equity market compared
with loan finance.

We see that in the UK, the USA and Sweden companies rely more heavily on
individual investors to provide finance than in France or Germany. An active stock

Figure 1.1 Domestic equity market capitalisation/gross domestic product

Market capitalisation/GDP (%)

1994 1998
Germany 22 49
France 33 65
UK 16 |70
Sweden 64 125

USA 73 158
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exchange has developed to allow shareholders to liquidate their investments. A system of
financial reporting has evolved to satisfy a stewardship need where prudence and
conservatism predominate and to meet the capital market need for fair information® which
allows interested parties to deal on an equal footing where the accruals concept and the
doctrine of substance over form predominate. It is important to note that equity has
gained importance in all the countries in Figure 1.1. This could be an important factor
in the development of accounting.

In France and Germany, as well as equity investment having a lower profile, there is
also a significant difference in the way in which shares are registered and transferred. In
the UK individual shareholders are entered onto the company’s Register of Members. In
France and Germany many shares are bearer shares which means that they are not
registered in the individual investor’s name but are deposited with a bank that has the
authority to exercise a proxy. It could perhaps appear at first glance that the banks have
undue influence, but they state that, in the case of proxy votes, shareholders are at liberty
to cast their votes as they see fit and not to follow the recommendations of the bank.’
In addition to their control over proxy votes, the big three German banks, Deutsche Bank,
Dresdner Bank and Commerzbank, also have significant direct equity holdings, e.g. in
1992 Deutsche Bank had a direct holding of 28% in Daimler-Benz.!

An investigation was carried out in the 1970s by the Gessler Commission into the ties
between the Big Three and large West German manufacturing companies. The
Commission established that the banks’ power lay in the combination of the proxy votes,
the tradition of the house bank which kept a company linked to one principal lender, the
size of the banks’ direct equity holdings and their representation on company supervisory
boards."

In practice, therefore, the banks are effectively both principal lenders and shareholders
in Germany. As principal lenders they receive internal information such as cash flow
forecasts which, as a result, is also available to them in their role as nominee shareholders.
We are not concerned here with questions such as conflict of interest and criticisms that
the banks are able to exert undue influence. Our interest is purely in the financial
reporting implications, which are that the banks have sufficient power to obtain all of the
information they require without reliance on the annual accounts. Published disclosures
are far less relevant than in, say, the UK.

During the 1990s there was a growth in the UK and the USA of institutional investors,
such as pension funds, which form an ever increasing proportion of registered
shareholders. In theory, the information needs of these institutional investors should be
the same as those of individual investors. However, in practice, they might be in a
position to obtain information by direct access to management and the directors. One
effect of this might be that they will become less interested in seeking disclosures in the
financial statements — they will have already picked up the significant information at an
informal level.

The relationship of the tax and reporting systems

In the UK separate rules have evolved for computing profit for tax and computing profit
for financial reporting purposes in a number of areas. The legislation for tax purposes
tends to be more prescriptive, e.g. there is a defined rate for capital allowances on fixed
assets, which means that the reduction in value of fixed assets for tax purposes is decided
by the government. The financial reporting environment is less prescriptive but this is
compensated for by requiring greater disclosure. For example, there is no defined rate
for depreciating fixed assets but there is a requirement for companies to state their
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depreciation accounting policy. Similar systems have evolved in the USA and the
Netherlands.

However, certain countries give primacy to taxation rules and will only allow
expenditure for tax purposes if it is given the same treatment in the financial accounts.
In France and Germany, the tax rules effectively become the accounting rules for the
accounts of individual companies, although the tax influence might be less apparent in
consolidated financial statements.

This can lead to difficulties of interpretation, particularly when capital allowances, i.e.
depreciation for tax purposes, are changed to secure public policy objectives such as
encouraging investment in fixed assets by permitting accelerated write-off when assessing
taxable profits. In fact, the depreciation charge against profit would be said by a UK
accountant not to be fair, even though it could certainly be legal or correct.'?

Depreciation has been discussed to illustrate the possibility of misinterpretation
because of the different status and effect of tax rules on annual accounts. Other items
that require careful consideration include stock wvaluations, bad debt provisions,
development expenditure and revaluation of fixed assets. There might also be public
policy arrangements that are unique to a single country, e.g. the availability of transfers
to reserves to reduce taxable profit as occurs in Sweden."

The influence and status of the accounting profession

The development of a capital market for dealing in shares created a need for reliable,
relevant and timely financial information. Legislation was introduced in many countries
requiring companies to prepare annual accounts and have them audited. This resulted in
the growth of an established and respected accounting profession able to produce relevant
reports and attest to their reliability by performing an audit.

In turn, the existence of a strong profession had an impact on the development of
accounting regulations. It is the profession that has been responsible for the promulgation
of accounting standards and recommendations in a number of countries, such as the UK,
the USA, Australia, Canada and the Netherlands.

In countries where there has not been the same need to provide market-sensitive
information, e.g. in Eastern Europe in the 1980s, accountants have been seen purely as
bookkeepers and have been accorded a low status. This explains the lack of expertise
among financial accountants. There was also a lack of demand for financial management
skills because production targets were set centrally without the emphasis for maximising
the use of scarce resources at the business entity level. The attributes that are valued in
a market economy such as the exercise of judgement and the determination of relevant
information were not required. This position is changing rapidly and there has been
a growth in the training, professionalism and contribution of both financial and
management accountants as these economies become market economies.

The extent to which accounting theory is developed

Accounting theory can influence accounting practice. Theory can be developed at both
an academic and professional level but for it to take root it must be accepted by the
profession. For example, in the UK, theories such as current purchasing power and
current cost accounting first surfaced in the academic world and there were many
practising accountants who regarded them then, and still regard them now, as
academic.
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In the Netherlands, professional accountants receive an academic accountancy training
as well as the vocational accountancy training which is typical in the UK. Perhaps as a
result of that, there is less reluctance on the part of the profession to view academics as
isolated from the real world. This might go some way to explaining why it was in the
Netherlands that we saw general acceptance by the profession for the idea that for
information to be relevant it needed to be based on current value accounting. Largely as
a result of pressure from the Netherlands, the Fourth Directive contained provisions
which allowed member states to introduce inflation accounting systems.'*

Attempts have been made to formulate a conceptual framework for financial reporting
in countries such as the UK, the USA, Canada and Australia,”” and the International
Standards Committee has also contributed to this field. One of the results has been the
closer collaboration between the regulatory bodies, which might assist in reducing
differences in underlying principles in the longer term.

Accidents of history

The development of accounting systems is often allied to the political history of a
country. Scandals surrounding company failures, notably in the USA in the 1920s and
1930s and in the UK in the 1960s and 1980s, had a marked impact on financial reporting
in those countries. In the USA the Securities and Exchange Commission was established
to control listed companies, with responsibility to ensure adequate disclosure in annual
accounts. Ever increasing control over the form and content of financial statements
through improvements in the accounting standard-setting process has evolved from the
difficulties in the UK.

International boundaries have also been crossed in the evolution of accounting. In some
instances it has been a question of pooling of resources to avoid repeating work already
carried out elsewhere, e.g. the Norwegians studied the report of the Dearing Committee
in the UK before setting up their new accounting standard-setting system.'® Other
changes in nations’ accounting practices have been a result of external pressure, e.g.
Spain’s membership of the European Community led to radical changes in accounting,!”
while the Germans influenced accounting in the countries they occupied during the
Second World War." Such accidents of history have changed the course of accounting
and reduced the clarity of distinctions between countries.

Language

Language has often played an important role in the development of different methods of
accounting for similar items. Certain nationalities are notorious for speaking only their
own language, which has prevented them from benefiting from the wisdom of other
nations. There is also the difficulty of translating concepts as well as phrases, where one
country has influenced another.

1.4 Classification of national accounting systems

A number of attempts have been made to classify national accounting systems in much
the same way that biologists attempt to classify flora and fauna.'” However, as can be seen
from the reasons for different systems described above, national differences are far from
straightforward. Any classifications need to be constantly updated as accounting is such
a dynamic activity. There are constant changes as a result of events taking place both
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within and beyond the accounting profession. Such classifications are therefore useful in
gaining a greater understanding of particular features of accounting in a country at a
particular time, but do need to be treated with a degree of caution.

1.5 Attempts to reduce national differences

Given the increasing numbers of transnational users of accounts, many attempts have
been made to reduce the differences between reports prepared in different countries.
There are, in essence, two approaches: standardisation and harmonisation.?’ These terms
have become technical terms in the study of international accounting. Standardisation
advocates the setting out of rules for accounting for similar items in all countries.
Harmonisation is less radical in that it allows for some different national approaches but
provides a common framework so that major issues will be dealt with in similar ways
across national borders. Gradually, as efforts to improve comparability of financial
statements have increased, these two approaches have come closer together.

Attempts have been made to standardise or at least harmonise financial reporting to
satisfy the needs of a number of different groups. Users of accounts need clear and
comparable information to assess a company’s past or potential investment performance.
Government agencies such as tax and customs authorities also have an interest in greater
compatibility of information between countries to trace transactions. International
accountancy firms deal with large numbers of multinational clients, whose accounts
frequently need to be adjusted to common accounting principles before consolidations can
be prepared. A reduction in national accounting differences would reduce the training
costs of these firms and increase staff mobility (however, it would ultimately limit the
fees they could charge). Companies seeking capital through cross-border listings may cur-
rently need to prepare financial statements under more than one set of regulations to meet
the needs of different stock exchanges. This is both costly and time-consuming.

A number of international bodies are involved in the processes of harmonisation or
standardisation. These have included organisations which may not immediately be
associated with accounting, such as the United Nations and the Organization for
Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD). However, the most influential have
probably been the International Accounting Standards Committee and the European
Union. Their contribution is described below.

1.6 The work of international bodies in harmonising and standardising
financial reporting

1.6.1

The major international bodies have accelerated their programmes of work and have
sought greater co-operation in recent years. This section sets out something of their
histories and structures before relating the latest developments in their strategies and the
effect this is likely to have on the annual reports of companies.

The International Accounting Standards Committee

The International Accounting Standards Committee (IASC) was established in 1973 by
the professional accounting bodies of Australia, Canada, France, Germany, Japan,
Mexico, the Netherlands, the UK, Ireland and the USA. The membership now
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comprises all professional accounting bodies that are members of the International
Federation of Accountants (IFAC). The objectives of the IASC are:

(a) to develop, in the public interest, a single set of high-quality, understandable and
enforceable global accounting standards that require high-quality, transparent and
comparable information in financial statements and other financial reporting to help
participants in the world’s capital markets and other users make economic decisions;

(b) to promote the use and rigorous application of those standards; and

(c) to bring about convergence of national accounting standards and International
Accounting Standards to high-quality solutions.?!

The TASC was restructured, following a review between 1998 and 2000, to give an
improved balance between geographical representation, technical competence and
independence.”? The nineteen trustees of the IASC represent a range of geographical
and professional interests and are responsible for raising the organisation’s funds and
appointing the members of the Board and the Standing Interpretations Committee (SIC).
The International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) has responsibility for all technical
matters including the preparation and implementation of International Accounting
Standards (IASs). In future, the standards issued by the TASB will be known as
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs).?

The process of producing a new IFRS is similar to the processes of some national
accounting standard setters. Once a need for a new (or revised) standard has been
identified, a steering committee is set up to identify the relevant issues and draft the
standard. Drafts are produced at varying stages and are exposed to public scrutiny.
Subsequent drafts take account of comments obtained during the exposure period. The
final standard is approved by the Board and an effective date agreed. International
Accounting Standards currently in effect are referred to throughout the rest of this book.
The TASC also issued a Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial
Statements.** This will assist in the development of future accounting standards and
improve harmonisation by providing a basis for reducing the number of accounting
treatments permitted by IASs. Professional accountancy bodies have prepared and
published translations of IASs, making them available to a wide audience, and the IASC
itself set up a mechanism to issue interpretations of the standards.

TASs and IFRSs (referred to below simply as ‘TASs’) may be applied in one of the
following ways:

® An IAS may be adopted as a national accounting standard. This can be useful where
there are limited resources and an ‘off the peg’ solution is required. This is the practice
in countries such as Botswana, Cyprus and Zimbabwe. The disadvantage is that the
standard may not meet specific local needs, due to the influence of the larger
industrialised nations on the IASC.

® An IAS may be used as a national requirement but adapted for local purposes. This
approach is used in Fiji and Kuwait for example.

e National requirements may be derived independently, but adapted to conform with
IASs. This is currently the procedure in the UK, although recently the programmes
of the TASC and ASB have converged. Indeed IAS 37 and FRS 12 were developed
jointly.
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It is important to note that if a company wishes to describe its financial statements as
complying with IASs, TAS 1 requires the financial statements to comply with all the
requirements of each applicable standard and each applicable interpretation of the SIC.
This clearly outlaws the practice of ‘IAS-lite’ reporting, where companies claimed
compliance with IASs while neglecting some of their more onerous requirements.

The large number of members of the old IASC meant that it was difficult to achieve
a consensus on many of the issues that the Committee has addressed. Consequently,
many IASs initially permitted a range of treatments. Whilst this was an improvement on
not having a standard at all, it was still far from ideal. In response to this criticism, the
TASC began its comparability/improvements project in 1987, which resulted in the revi-
sion of ten standards. The TASB adopted all IASs in issue, but soon identified the need
for further improvements.

The European Union?®

The Treaty of Rome was signed in 1957 to establish a European Economic Community.
The objectives of the Community were set out in Article 2 of the Treaty:

The Community shall have as its task, by establishing a common market and
progressively approximating the economic policies of member states, to promote
throughout the Community a harmonious development of economic activities, a
continuous and balanced expansion, an increase in stability, an accelerated raising of
the standard of living and closer relations between the States belonging to it.

In order to achieve these objectives, the Treaty set out specific provisions for the free
movement of goods, services, people and capital. The single European currency (the
euro) in operation in a number of European countries (and some of their trading
partners) since January 2000 (with notes and coins in circulation from January 2002) has
removed yet another barrier to trade and will link the economies of members more closely.

It was envisaged that the Treaty would be supported by action in other spheres
developing common legislation where necessary. The harmonisation of company law
across the Community has been part of this process. To date, the most important EC
Directives adopted in respect of financial reporting are the Fourth (company accounts),
Seventh (consolidated accounts) and Eighth (auditing).

Member states are required to incorporate these Directives into their national
legislation within an agreed time-scale. This has succeeded in achieving greater
comparability between financial statements prepared in different member states, although
a number of cultural differences remain. The Directives have also had an impact on
financial reporting in countries seeking membership or involved in trade with existing
members of the EU (e.g. Norway has implemented the Directives as a condition of
membership of the Furopean Economic Area and Latvia has based its recent accounting
legislation on the Danish implementation of the Directives).

Although they have had a major impact on accounting in some countries, e¢.g. Greece
and Spain, the Directives still only provide a framework for financial reporting and
provide a range of options. This framework has to be supported by national legislation
or accounting standards to provide the detailed regulation that leads to comparability
within countries. Consequently, these national practices can then counteract the
harmonisation efforts of the Directives. One solution would be to have a European
Accounting Standards Board. However, the practicalities of setting up such an
organisation and reaching agreement on accounting issues within a reasonable time have
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meant that such a board has not been established. At the end of 1995, it was decided
that the European Union could play a more active role in the IASC with a view to using
TASs to support the Directives. As a first step, the Contact Committee on the Accounting
Directives prepared a report entitled ‘An examination of the conformity between the
international accounting standards and the European accounting Directives’ in 1996. This
established that there were few major differences between the IASs and the Directives.

IASC and the International Organisation of Securities Commissions
(10SCO)

The TASC and IOSCO have been co-operating on the accounting problems of
multinational companies involved in foreign listings since 1987.2 In July 1995 it was
agreed that if the IASC was to produce a set of core standards that were acceptable to
the technical committee of IOSCO, any company would be able to use IAS financial
statements to obtain listings of its securities on any foreign stock exchange. This would
be particularly useful for companies seeking listing on the US stock exchange, which
currently requires companies to present financial statements in accordance with US
Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (US GAAP) or reconcile domestic accounts
to US GAAP. The ramifications of this for preparers and users of financial statements of
multinational companies are tremendous: considerable time and effort would be saved.
The TASC completed its core standards in December 1998. In May 2000, IOSCO
recommended that its members permit the use of IASs by multinational issuers for cross-
border offerings and listings, supplemented where necessary to address outstanding
substantive issues at a national or regional level. This is clearly a major step towards the
acceptance of IASs and the elimination of the necessity for multiple reporting.
Nevertheless, there could still be extensive demands on preparers to provide
supplementary information. The United States Securities and Exchange Commission is
seen as being a potential stumbling block. This is perhaps unsurprising given the
remaining differences between IASs and US GAAP? and the SEC’s requirement for
strict application of US GAAP. Nevertheless, the SEC took a constructive approach to
the issue in seeking further information on the use and quality of IASs in its Concept
Release on International Accounting Standards in February 2000.

The EU and IASs

In a communication from the Commission of the European Communities to the Council
and the European Parliament (EU Financial Reporting Strategy: The Way Forward) in
June 2000, it was proposed that all listed companies be required to prepare their
consolidated financial statements in accordance with IASs from 2005 onwards. In
February 2001 the European Commission published a proposal for a regulation on the
application of international accounting standards in the EU which aimed to harmonise
financial reporting in the EU on the basis of globally agreed accounting standards by 2005
and to enhance EU companies’ access to international capital markets. This proposal
became a Regulation in July 2002.28 Member states are allowed to extend the application
of TASs to unlisted companies and to individual accounts. In the UK wunlisted and
individual companies are to be permitted to use IASs instead of SSAPs and FRSs, if they
prefer. This will clearly be helpful for the increasing numbers of companies that have
juggled to meet the requirements of international investors without falling foul of national
regulations.
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The proposals followed changes in legislation in a number of member states to permit
certain companies to use international standards. This could be seen as having led to a
reduction in comparability as companies take different approaches. For example, in 1999
reports in Finland, Stora Enso (listed in Helsinki and Stockholm) and Nokia (listed in
Helsinki, Stockholm, L.ondon, Frankfurt and New York) used IASs but UPM Kymmene
(listed in Helsinki and New York) used Finnish accounting practice. The proposals also
reflect companies’ perceptions of market demands. For example, the Danish company
Berendsen changed its accounting policies on goodwill and restructuring provisions in
1999. The annual report explains that the changes were made ‘in order to come more
into line with international accounting standards, thus making comparisons with foreign
company accounts easier’.

However, it is important to note that the EU has not simply handed over its powers to
the IASC. There is an endorsement mechanism in the EU, which is to ensure that
IASs meet the needs of EU listed companies. This may limit the number of
options available to EU companies or require additional disclosures. In 2004 there was
controversy when the EU only partially endorsed IAS 39.

Current convergence and improvement projects

In 2001 the TASB announced a project to improve twelve IASB standards.? The objective
of this project was to improve the quality of financial reporting under IASs by converging
on best practice around the world and reducing choice in the application of the standards.
The project dealt with standards that are not the subject of separate projects and,
therefore, changes to individual standards could be considered to be relatively minor. The
TASB was responding to suggestions from IOSCO, the EU, national standard setters,
accounting firms and the SIC. The date for compliance with IASs by EU listed
companies of 2005 gave added impetus to this project. The IASB issued fifteen improved
standards in December 2003 as a result of this project.

Other improvements involve clarification of key terms (such as ‘present fairly’),
removing duplication of regulations between standards and transferring material between
standards to make them easier to follow.

Convergence is a two-way process. At the same time as the IASB was making changes
to bring its standards in line with global best practice national standard setters have been
working to align their standards with IASs. In the UK, the ASB’s FREDs 24 to 30 were
part of its ‘convergence project’. The ASB was also taking account of any changes to the
IASs expected as a result of the IASB’s improvements project.

The future

Financial reporting is clearly about to enter a period of transition. When the US energy
giant Enron collapsed in 2001, a number of important issues were raised regarding the
conduct of directors and auditors. More importantly in the context of this chapter, the
collapse of Enron highlighted a number of deficiencies in financial reporting. The
application of US GAAP had led to a lack of transparency regarding matters including
revenue recognition, valuation of intangible assets, so-called Special Purpose Entities and
off balance sheet finance, and derivatives. This has demonstrated that, in spite of (or
perhaps because of) its detailed regulations, US GAAP is not without its faults. The
broader debate has been opened as to whether detailed regulations or broader regulations
based on principles (as applied by the UK’s ASB and the IASB) are a more appropriate
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way forward. The US Senate Committee investigating the Enron collapse heard evidence
from Sir David Tweedie, chairman of the International Accounting Standards Board.

The use of TASs will become more widespread in the European Union and it seems
set to become the standard for cross-border listings on a global basis. The new structure
of the TASC has been designed to ensure that the IASB will continue to produce high-
quality standards to provide comparable information to users. However, before true
comparability can be achieved, a more effective mechanism is necessary to ensure
consistent interpretation and application of IASs. Surveys of companies purporting to
follow IASs* have demonstrated that many companies disclose exceptions from full
compliance. While TAS 1 (revised) bans this practice (i.e. companies are required to
follow all TASs if they wish to claim their financial statements comply with IASs), it is
difficult to see how it can be enforced without a more rigid enforcement structure. The
work of the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee will contribute
to ensuring consistent interpretations of IASs. Increased interest in IASs has led to an
increase in the number of textbooks referring to their use. As auditors and regulatory
bodies become more familiar with TASs it is likely that they will be enforced more
rigorously. Early in 2004, Company Reporting identified the Austrian company Miba as
the first company reporting under IASs to receive a qualified audit report as a result of
its inappropriate recognition of an intangible asset.

Listed companies in the EU and other countries, such as Australia, are currently
making the transition to IASs. They need to present their accounts as if they had always
used TASs. This means that some items that had not previously been recognised will need
to be recognised and other items will be recorded or measured differently. If a company
is producing its first IAS financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2005, then
it will need to show comparative figures for the year ended 31 December 2004.
Consequently, companies will need to restate their opening 1 January 2004 balance sheet
in accordance with IASs. The effect on companies’ figures will vary according to the
nature of their business, but could be substantial. For example, property companies will
be hit by IAS 12’s requirement to make a provision for deferred taxation on revaluations.
In its accounts for the year ended 30 June 2003, Canary Wharf plc disclosed unrecognised
deferred tax on property revaluation of £125.8m. If a provision was made for this
deferred tax, it would reduce Canary Wharf’s net assets by about 8%.

The increase in the use of IASs will be significant for the largest companies, but what
will happen to financial reporting in non-listed companies? These companies will
probably continue to use national accounting standards, but eventually it seems likely that
national requirements will move closer to IASs, thus reducing differences further. This
will be necessary to allow an easier transition to listed status. The European Commission
communication on financial reporting strategy’' set out the Commission’s plan for
achieving common internationally agreed accounting standards by 2005 for listed
companies in the EU. This may see the position of IASs clarified in the Directives and
may lead to further dispensations for the smallest companies.

The move towards IASs will also be significant for national standard setters. In the
short to medium term they will still be needed to provide accounting standards for
unlisted companies and to provide the expertise to support the TASB. In the 2002 report
of the UK’s Accounting Standards Board, Sir Bryan Carsberg pointed out that the ASB
needed to have an effective voice in the development of international standards. This
would involve building on its own ideas to lead the debate and keeping in touch with its
UK constituency. The ASB will continue to work with the IASB and the European
Financial Reporting Advisory Group. In 2004 and 2005 the ASB invited comments on its
future role in a changing standard-setting environment. In the longer term, it is difficult
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to imagine that it will be possible to justify accounting standard setters operating inde-
pendently in each country, particularly in smaller countries where there is no direct link
between the national standard setters and the IASB.

Economic consequences of accounting differences

While the debate continues about the future regulatory framework, businesses and
employees are facing the economic consequences of different accounting practices.
Following the acquisition of British car maker Rover in 1994 by the German company
BMW, performance was measured in accordance with the generally more conservative
German accounting principles. This information was used for making management
decisions. The publication of the £620m loss for 1998 led to a wave of speculation about
possible closure of production plants with consequent redundancies. However, it has been
pointed out that results under UK accounting rules (which were published later) would
not have been quite so dramatic. Figure 1.2 shows a comparison of the company’s results
under British and German rules.®

Figure 1.2 Rover results under UK and German rules

Rover results using UK rules Rover results using German rules
£m £m
1994 279 unpublished
1995 (€D) (163)
1996 (100) (109)
1997 19 @1
1998 (571) (620)

Nevertheless, the danger of making assumptions about a particular country’s
measurement rules was highlighted in 1993 when Daimler Benz became the first German
company to be listed on the New York Stock Exchange. Figure 1.3 summarises the
company’s results under German and US rules.*® In the year of listing (1993) there was
a large difference between the two sets of figures, which created the impression that US

Figure 1.3 Daimler Benz results under US and German rules

Daimler Benz results using Daimler Benz results using

German rules US rules

DM m DM m
1990 1,795 884
1991 1,942 1,886
1992 [,451 1,350
1993 615 (1,839)
1994 895 1,052

1995 (5734) (5.729)
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and German accounting principles were very different and that US rules were more
prudent. With hindsight, it is easy to see that 1993 was atypical and most of the
differences could be attributed to permitted treatments of provisions which vary between
the two countries. However the financial markets did not have the benefit of hindsight
and responded to the information available at the time.

1.7 Arguments in support of standards

1.7.1

1.7.2

1.7.3

1.7.4

The setting of standards has both supporters and opponents. In this section we discuss
comparability, credibility, influence and discipline.

Comparability

Financial statements should allow a user to make predictions of future cash flows, make
comparisons with other companies** and evaluate the management’s performance.

In order to be able to make valid inter-company comparisons of performance and
trends, investment decision makers must be supplied with relevant and reliable data that
have been standardised. Such comparisons would be distorted and valueless if companies
were permitted to select accounting policies at random or, even worse, with the intention
of disguising changes in performance and trends.

Credibility

The accountancy profession would lose all credibility if it permitted companies experi-
encing similar events to produce financial reports that disclosed markedly different results
simply because they could select different accounting policies. Uniformity is essential if
financial reports are to disclose a true and fair view. However, the IASB emphasis is that
the standards should not be a comprehensive code of rigid rules which supersede the
exercise of informed judgement in determining what constituted a fair view in each
circumstance.

Influence

The process of formulating standards has encouraged a constructive appraisal of the
policies being proposed for individual reporting problems and has stimulated the devel-
opment of a conceptual framework. For example, the standard on leasing introduced the
idea of considering the commercial substance of a transaction rather than simply the legal
position.

In the UK in the 1970s there was no clear statement of accounting principles other
than that accounts should be prudent, be consistent, follow accrual accounting procedures
and be based on the initial assumption that the business would remain a going concern.
It was the process of setting standards that stimulated accounting thought and literature
to the point where, by 1994, the ASB had produced exposure drafts of its Statement of
Principles, which appeared in final form in December 1999.

Discipline

Companies left to their own devices without the need to observe standards will eventually
be disciplined by the financial market: for example, incorrect classification of research as
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development expenditure will eventually become apparent when sales growth is not as
expected by the market. Mandatory standards will impose systematic ongoing regulation,
which should prevent serious loss to the entity and those who rely on the annual accounts
when making credit, loan and investment decisions.

There is a tension between the desire that standards should not be a comprehensive
code of rigid rules and the desire to regulate accounting practices that are imaginatively
devised by directors and their financial advisers to create a picture that they may con-
sider true and fair — but which others may not. Directors are under pressure to maintain
and improve the market valuation of their company’s securities; they will attempt to
influence any financial statistic that has an impact on the market valuation, such as the
trend in the EPS figure, the net asset backing for the shares or the gearing ratios.

The problem of obscure financial reporting practices tends to surface when there is a
recession, and company failures are associated with such practices.

1.8 Arguments against standards

1.8.1

1.8.2

1.8.3

We have so far discussed the arguments in support of standard setting. However, there
are also arguments against.

Adverse allocative effects

Adverse allocative effects could occur if standard setters did not take account of the
economic consequences flowing from the standards they issued.”® For example, addi-
tional costs could be imposed on preparers, and suboptimal managerial decisions might
be taken to avoid any reduction in reported earnings or net assets. Furthermore, the
adverse effects might be felt by people who did not actually use the accounts, for
example, a leasing standard that caused a fall in the lessee’s reported profits might, as a
consequence, depress the leasing industry, leading to the loss of employment by staff
engaged in manufacturing assets supplied under lease, or in servicing the leasing industry.

Consensus seeking

Consensus seeking can lead to the issuing of standards that are over-influenced by those
with easiest access to the standard setters — particularly as the subject matter becomes
more complex, as with capital instruments. It could be argued that such influences can
be minimised by basing standards on a conceptual framework but there is a counter-argu-
ment that any such framework may be too general to fulfil this role effectively.

Overload

Standard overload is not a new charge. However, it takes a number of conflicting forms,
e.g.:

® There are too many/too few standards.
@ Standards are too detailed or not sufficiently detailed.

@ Standards are general purpose and fail to recognise the differences between large and
small entities and interim and final accounts.

® There are too many standard setters with differing requirements, e.g. FASB, TASB,
national standard setters, national Stock Exchange listing requirements.
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1.9 US GAAP

1.9.1

1.9.2

Given that it will take some time for the harmonisation and standardisation efforts
described above to take effect, it is important to be aware of the structures that determine
financial reporting in other countries, to have an awareness of areas of potential difference
in the recognition or measurement of financial statement items and areas where practice
might change in future. The USA has the largest economy in the world and is also an
attractive source of capital for foreign companies. In the light of the apparent competition
for international supremacy between US GAAP and IASs, it seems appropriate to spend
some time considering the US regulatory environment.

Given the historical links between the UK and the USA, it is unsurprising that the
two systems of financial reporting have much in common. However, there are more rules
in the USA than in the UK (or perhaps even than anywhere else in the world), and this
has resulted in greater standardisation and disclosure of information.

Legislation

There is no direct equivalent of the UK Companies Acts in the USA. The main federal
regulation of trade in shares comprises the Securities Act 1933 and the Securities
Exchange Act 1934. Neither of these includes any detailed provisions for the form and
content of financial statements. The Securities and FExchange Commission (SEC) was
born out of this legislation. This body is responsible for requiring the publication of
financial information for the benefit of shareholders. It has the power to dictate the form
and content of these reports. The largest companies whose shares are listed must register
with the SEC and comply with its regulations. The SEC monitors financial reports filed
in great detail and makes useful information available to the public via its website
(www.sec.gov).

However, it is important to note that the majority of companies fall outside the SEC’s
jurisdiction, although shareholders or lenders may require publication of equivalent infor-
mation and a full audit. Individual states have the power to introduce their own legisla-
tion to control businesses and even set taxes. They are also responsible for conferring the
right to practise as a public accountant.

Standard-setting body and other sources of GAAP

The Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) is responsible for setting accounting
standards in the USA. Its independence is ensured by limiting the voluntary
contributions to its funding from the various public accounting firms, industry and other
interested parties. FASB issues the following documents:

@ Statements of Financial Accounting Standards, which deal with specific issues
@ Statements of Concepts, which give general information

@ Interpretations, which clarify existing standards.

A subcommittee of the FASB is the Emerging Issues Task Force, which provided the
inspiration for the UK Urgent Issues Task Force. The Accounting Principles Board
(APB) also publishes Opinions and the American Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (AICPA) also publishes Accounting Practice Bulletins and Opinions. These



Financial reporting — evolution of international standards * 19

pronouncements should all be regarded as mandatory. An audit report on the financial
statements of a US listed company must express an opinion on whether the accounts
‘present fairly in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles’. In trying to
determine GAAP, if companies encounter an issue that is not covered by the mandatory
pronouncements described above, then they should refer to the FASB Technical
Bulletins, AICPA Industry Audit and Accounting Guidelines cleared by FASB and
AICPA Statements of Position. Other AICPA interpretations and implementation
guidelines published by FASB staff may also be relevant. Finally, companies should refer
to practices that are widely recognised and prevalent, either generally or in the industry.
Given the large number of sources of authoritative literature, it is perhaps unsurprising
that textbooks such as Wiley GAAP include an entire chapter on ‘researching GAAP
problems’.

Figure 1.4 Extract from Nokia’s Form 20-F

Para 36. Differences between International Accounting Standards and U.S. Generally Accepted
Accounting Principles

The Group's consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with International
Accounting Standards, which differ in certain respects from accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States (U.S. GAAP). The principal differences between IAS and U.S.
GAAP are presented below together with explanations of certain adjustments that affect
consolidated net income and total shareholders’ equity as of and for the years ended
December 31:

Reconciliation of net income

2003 2002 2001
EURm EURm EURm
Net income reported under IAS 3,592 3,381 2,200
U.S. GAAP adjustments:
Pension expense (12) (5) (22)
Development costs 322 (66) (104)
Marketable securities — —
Provision for social security cost on stock options 1) (90) (132)
Stock compensation expense ) (35) (85)
Cash flow hedges 9 6 (22)
Net investment in foreign companies — 48 —
Amortization of identifiable intangible assets acquired (22) (22) @)
Amortization of goodwiill 162 206 28
Impairment of goodwill 151 104 —
Deferred tax effect of U.S. GAAP adjustments (75) 76 47

Net income under U.S. GAAP 4,097 3,603 1,903




20 - Regulatory framework — an attempt to achieve uniformity

1.9.3 Foreign companies listed in the USA

Within the EU there has been mutual recognition of member states’ accounting
principles, so it has been possible for, say, a Belgian company to have its shares listed on
the Paris Bourse without needing to make any amendments to its financial statements.
The London Stock FExchange has recognised that investors need financial information in
a form they can understand, so has permitted foreign companies to use International
Accounting Standards for reporting purposes. Foreign companies wishing to list on the
US stock exchange need to provide detailed reconciliations and explanations about the
differences between the accounting convention used and US GAAP. Companies have to
file Form 20-F at the end of the year, which includes the annual financial statements.
The consolidated financial statements of Nokia for the year ended 31 December 2003 ran
to some 63 pages in its Form 20-F. Fifteen of those pages (i.e. almost a quarter of the
financial statements) comprised explanations of the differences between IASs and US
GAAP.

The reconciliation between net income reported under IAS and US GAAP for Nokia
(shown in Figure 1.4) demonstrates that, in spite of the convergence project, there remain
some important differences between US GAAP and IASs. In this example the largest
adjustments relate to the capitalisation, amortisation and impairment of fixed assets and
the associated tax effects.

1.10 Reconciliations and supplementary statements

As we can see from Nokia above, presenting financial statements in accordance with
another accounting convention will result in amendments to figures which require a
detailed reconciliation statement.

As a further aid to readers, some companies present financial statements in more than
one currency as well as reconciling for accounting convention differences. This is
illustrated in Figure 1.5 with an extract from the Annual Report of Eybl International
AG (Austria’s largest textile company).

Figure 1.5 Examples of multiple reporting in financial statements of Eybl for the
year ended 31 December 1998

Accounting convention OHGB OHGB IAS
Currency ATS m Euro m ATS m
Shareholders’ equity 631 46 628
Income attributable to ordinary shareholders 128 9 19
Return on shareholders’ equity 20% 20% 19%
Earnings per share 54 ATS Euro 4 50 ATS

Restating figures in another currency may present information so that it is more
familiar, but, of course, there is no effect on financial ratios, as all figures have been
adjusted by the same factor. This can be seen from the Eybl accounts presented in
Austrian schillings and euros.
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Presenting financial statements in accordance with another accounting convention will
result in amendments to figures. The differences between Eybl’s financial statements
prepared in accordance with Austrian regulations and IASs are not substantial. This is
perhaps unsurprising given that Austrian regulations have implemented the European
Directives and IASs are generally in line with the European Directives. In the 1999
report, Eybl only published financial statements prepared under IASs, taking advantage
of dispensations under the Austrian Commercial Code. The main differences between
TASs and the Austrian commercial code led to the publication of a cash flow statement
and illustration of the development of equity.

Summary

The expansion in the number of multinational enterprises and transnational
investments has led to a demand for a greater understanding of financial statements
prepared in a range of countries. This has led to pressure for a single set of high-
quality international accounting standards. IASs are being used increasingly for
reporting to capital markets. At the same time, national standards are evolving to
come into line with IASs.

REVIEW QUESTIONS

I How does the local national regulatory framework for financial reporting differ from that in the
USA? Which is better for particular interest groups and why?

N

‘Standardisation is the only way forward for European financial reporting. Discuss this statement in
the light of efforts that have already been made in harmonisation and the requirement for listed
companies to follow IASs.

w

Suggest criteria that could be used to classify systems of financial reporting employed in different
countries. What difficulties are there in performing an exercise of this nature?

S

Consider the role of scandal in the development of accounting regulation.

(%,

The current differences between IASs and US GAAP are extensive and the recent pairing of the
US Financial Accounting Standards Board and IASB to align IAS and US GAAP will probably result
in IAS moving further from current local national GAAP* Discuss.

EXERCISES

Question |

Obtain the financial statements of two companies based in different countries. Review the accounting
policies notes. Analyse what the policies tell you about the regulatory environment in which the two
companies are operating.
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Question 2

Use the EDGAR service (via the SEC website) to identify four European companies listed on the US
Stock Exchange. From the Form 20-F identify which items feature in the reconciliation from net income
under domestic GAAP (or IASs) to net income under US GAAR What does your analysis allow you
to conclude about regulations or underlying principles in different countries?

Question 3

Consider the interest of the tax authorities in financial reporting regulations. Explain why national tax

authorities might be concerned about the transition from domestic accounting standards to IASs in

companies’ annual reports.
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CHAPTER 2

Conceptual framework

2.1

Introduction

2.1.1

In this chapter we will discuss the rationale underlying standards and consider the
developments that have occurred in the search for a conceptual framework for financial
reporting. We also consider:

@ Historical overview of the evolution of financial accounting theory

® IASC Framework for the Presentation and Preparation of Financial Statements — 1989

® UK Statement of Principles for Financial Reporting — 1999

® AICPA Improving Business Reporting — A Customer Focus: Meeting the Information
Needs of Investors and Creditors — 1994

® ICAS Making Corporate Reports Valuable — 1988.

Financial reporting under the spotlight

Financial statements have been, and continue to be, subject to an array of accounting
standards produced by international bodies such as EU Directives and IASs and by
national standard setters such as FASB in the USA and the various standard-setting
bodies around the world.

Consistency to protect the auditors

The early standards were set to achieve consistency in the treatment of the major items, e.g.
IAS 2 Inventories, and were seen as a mechanism to avoid conflicting rules and practices.

Transparency

Later the emphasis evolved to the provision of information useful for making economic
decisions. How reliable this is can often, however, only be assessed after some sort of
crisis when the internal affairs of the company are subject to investigation.

Financial reporting under the spotlight

Financial reporting does not exist in a vacuum and it is put under the spotlight when
events call its fairness into question. This has been seen in recent times with the financial
crisis in the global markets.

The implication for standard setting is set out by the International Forum on
Accountancy Development (IFAD), a body set up to harness the resources of the
accounting profession and international financial institutions. IFAD, whose first meeting
was in June 1999, comments:!
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Lessons from the crisis

. . . the Asian crisis showed that under the forces of financial globalisation it is
essential for countries to improve . . . the supervision, regulation and transparency
of financial systems . . . Efficiency of markets requires reliable financial
information from issuers. With hindsight, it was clear that local accounting
standards used to prepare financial statements did not meet international standards.
Investors, both domestic and foreign, did not fully understand the weak financial
position of the companies in which they were investing.

This assessment has at various times also been made in other countries around the world
and has been the initial force driving the standard-setting process.

Rationale for accounting standards

It is interesting to take a historical overview of the evolution of the financial accounting
theory underpinning standards and guiding standard setters to see how it has moved
through three phases from the empirical inductive to the deductive to a formalised
conceptual framework.

2.2 Historical overview of the evolution of financial accounting theory

Financial accounting practices have not evolved in a vacuum. They are dynamic
responses to changing macro and micro conditions which may involve political, fiscal,
economic and commercial changes, e.g.:
® How to take account of changing prices?

— Ignore because unmodified historical cost accounting is applied as in Germany.

— Ignore if inflation is low as is the present situation in many European countries.

— Have a modified historical cost system where tangible fixed assets are revalued which
has been the norm in the UK.

— Apply a government inflation rate to tangible fixed assets as in Turkey.

— Have a coherent current cost system as implemented in the 1970s in the
Netherlands.

® How to deal with changing commercial practices?
— Ignore if not a material commercial practice, e.g. leasing in the early 1970s.

— Apply objective, tightly defined, legalistic-based criteria, e.g. to define finance and
operating leases.

— Apply subjective criteria, e.g. assess the economic substance of a leasing transaction
to see if a finance lease because the risks and rewards have substantially been passed
to the lessee.

— Accept that it is not possible to effectively regulate companies to achieve consistent
treatment of similar economic transactions and require same reporting treatment for
all lease transactions.

It is clear from considering just these two questions that there could be a variety of
accounting treatments for similar transactions and, if annual financial reports are to be
useful in making economic decisions,? there is a need for uniformity and consistency in
reporting.
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2.2.1

Attempts to achieve consistency have varied over time.

® An empirical inductive approach was followed by the accounting profession prior
to 1970.
This resulted in standards or reporting practices that were based on rationalising what
happened in practice, i.e. it established best current practice as the norm. Under this
approach there was a general disclosure standard, e.g. IAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting
Policies, and standards for major specific items, e.g. IAS 2 Inventories.

® A deductive approach followed in the 1970s.
This resulted in standards based on principles deduced from assumptions, e.g. that
price-adjusted financial statements would be more relevant than historical accounting
statements. This was not based on existing practice in the real world — in fact, it
challenged current reporting practice.

® A conceptual framework approach was promoted in the 1980s.
It was recognised that standards needed to be decision-useful, that they should satisfy
cost/benefit criteria and that their implementation could only be achieved by consensus.
Consensus was generally only achievable where there was a clearly perceived rationale
underpinning a standard and, even so, alternative treatments were required in order to
gain support.

® A conceptual framework approach in the twenty-first century — the mandatory
model.
Under this approach there is less regard for the provision of alternative treatments.

Empirical inductive approach

The empirical inductive approach looked at the practices that existed and attempted to
generalise from them.

This tended to be how the technical departments of accounting firms operated. By
rationalising what they did, they ensured that the firm avoided accepting different
financial reporting practices for similar transactions, e.g. accepting unrealised profit
appearing in the income statement of one client and not in another. The technical
department’s role was to advise partners and staff, i.e. it was a defensive role to avoid
any potential charge from a user of the accounts that they had been misled.

Initially a technical circular was regarded as a private good and distribution was
restricted to the firm’s own staff. However, it then became recognised that it could benefit
the firm if its practices were accepted as the industry benchmark, so that in the event of
litigation it could rely on this fact.

When the technical advice ceased to be a private good, there was a perceived additional
benefit to the firm if the nature of the practice could be changed from being a positive
statement, i.e. this is how we report profits on uncompleted contracts, to a normative
statement, i.e. this is how we report and this is how all other financial reporters ought to
report.

Consequently, there has been a growing trend since the 1980s for firms to publish
rationalisations for their financial reporting practices. It has been commercially prudent for
them to do so. It has also been extremely helpful to academic accountants and their students.

Typical illustrations of the result of such empirical induction are the wide acceptance
of the historical cost model and various concepts such as matching and realisation.
In terms of standards, we have already mentioned that TAS 1 and IAS 2 evolved under
this regime.
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This approach has played an important role in the evolution of financial reporting
practices and will continue to do so. After all, it is the preparers of the financial
statements and their auditors who are first exposed to change, whether economic, political
or commercial. They are the ones who have to think their way through each new problem
that surfaces. This means that a financial reporting practice already exists by the time the
problem comes to the attention of theoreticians.

The major reasons that it has been felt necessary to try other approaches are both
pragmatic and theoretical.

Pragmatic reason

The main pragmatic reason is that the past procedure, whereby deduction was dependent
upon generalisation from existing practice, has become untenable. The accelerating rate
of economic, political and commercial change leaves too little time for effective and
uniform practices to evolve.

Theoretical reasons

The theoretical reasons relate to the acceptability of the income determined under the
traditional historical cost model. There are three principal reasons:

® True income. Economists had a view that financial reports should report a true
income, which differed from the accountants’ view.

® User-defined income — public. There is a view that there may be a number of
relevant incomes depending upon differing user needs which may be regarded as
public goods.

® User-defined income — private. There is a view that there may be a number of
relevant incomes depending upon differing user needs which may be regarded as
private rather than public goods.

It was thought that the limitations implicit in the empirical inductive approach could be
overcome by the deductive approach.

Deductive approach

The deductive approach is not dependent on existing practice, which is often perceived
as having been tainted because it has been determined by finance directors and auditors.
However, the problem remains: from whose viewpoint is the deduction to be made?

Possible alternatives to the preparers and auditors of the accounts are economists and
users. However, economists are widely perceived as promoting unrealistic models and
users as having needs so diverse that they cannot be realistically satisfied in a single set
of accounts. Consider the attempts made to define income. Economists have supported
the concept of a true income, while users have indicated the need for a range of relevant
incomes.

User needs and multiple incomes

There are multiple measures of income, derived from the general price level adjusted
accounting model, the replacement cost accounting model and the exit price accounting
model. Each model provides information that is relevant for different purposes,
e.g. replacement cost accounting produces an income figure that indicates how much is
available for distribution while still maintaining the operating capacity of the entity.
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These income figures were regarded as a public good, i.e. cost-free to the user.
Latterly, it has been recognised that there is a cost implication to the production of
information, i.e. that it is not a public good; that standards should be capable of being
empirically tested; and that consideration should be given to the economic consequences
of standards. This has resulted in a concern that standards should deal with economic
substance rather than form, e.g. the treatment of leases in IAS 17.}

It could be argued that the deductive approach to income, whether an economist’s
defined income or a theoretician’s multiple income, has a basic weakness in that it gives
priority to the information needs of only one user group — the investors. In the UK the
ASB is quite explicit about this. The Framework is less clear about the primary focus,
stating that financial statements are prepared to provide information that is useful in
making economic decisions. The ASB has been supported by other academics* who have
stated:

As we have already noted that the needs of investors, creditors, employees and
customers are not fundamentally different, it seems safe to look to the needs of
present and potential investors as a guide . . .

There is little independent evidence put forward to support this view.

Where do we stand now?

We have seen that accounting theory was initially founded on generalisations from the
accounting practices followed by practitioners. Then came the deductive approach of
economists and theoreticians. The latter were not perceived to be realistic and empirical
testing, e.g. examination of economic consequences on share prices, is relied on to give
them credibility.

The practitioners have now staked their claim to create accounting theory or a
conceptual framework through the IASB. The advantage of this is that the conceptual
framework will be based on consensus.

2.3 IASC Framework for the Presentation and Preparation of Financial
Statements

This exposure draft deals with the following:

® The objective of financial statements.
The objective of financial statements is that they should provide information about
the financial position, performance and changes in financial position of an enterprise
that is useful to a wide range of potential users in making economic decisions.

® The qualitative characteristics that determine the usefulness of information in financial
statements.
The qualitative characteristics that determine the usefulness of information are
relevance and reliability. Comparability is a qualitative characteristic that interacts
with both relevance and reliability. Materiality provides a threshold or cut-off point
rather than being a primary qualitative characteristic. The balance between cost and
benefit is a persuasive constraint rather than a qualitative characteristic.

® The definition, recognition and measurement of elements from which financial
statements are constructed.
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The definition of an element is given in paragraph 46:

Financial statements portray the financial effects of transactions and other events
by grouping the effects into broad classes according to their economic
characteristics. These broad classes are termed the elements of financial
statements. The elements directly related to the measurement of financial position
in the balance sheet are assets, liabilities and equity. The elements directly related
to the measurement of performance in the profit and loss account are income and
expense.

The exposure draft then defines each of the elements. For example, an asset is
defined in paragraph 53: ‘The future economic benefit embodied in an asset is the
potential to contribute, directly or indirectly, to the flow of cash and cash equivalents
to the enterprise.’

It also defines when an element is to be recognised. For example, in paragraph 87
it states: ‘An asset is recognised in the balance sheet when it is probable that the future
economic benefits will flow to the enterprise and the asset has an attribute that can be
measured reliably.’

Regarding measurement, it comments in paragraph 99:

The measurement attribute most commonly adopted by enterprises in preparing
their financial statements is historical cost. This is usually combined with other
measurement attributes, such as realisable value. For example, inventories are
usually carried at the lower of cost and net realisable value, and marketable
securities may be carried at market value, that is, their realisable value.
Furthermore, many enterprises combine historical costs and current costs as a
response to the inability of the historical cost model to deal with the effects of
changing prices of non-monetary assets.

The document deals in a similar style with the other elements.

® The concepts of capital, capital maintenance and profit.
Finally, regarding the concepts of capital, capital maintenance and profit, the
TASC comments:

At the present time, it is not the intention of the Board of the IASC to prescribe
a particular measurement model (i.e. historical cost, current cost, realisable value,
present value) ... This intention will, however, be reviewed in the light of world
developments.

An appropriate capital maintenance model is not specified but the Framework mentions
historical cost accounting, current cost accounting, net realisable value and present
value models.

The Framework has initiated the development of conceptual frameworks by other
national standard setters for both private sector and public sector financial statements.
Since then and up to the present day other jurisdictions have been influenced when
drafting their own national conceptual frameworks, e.g. the Swedish National Financial
Management Authority in 2002 (www.esv.se) and the South African Accounting
Standards Board in 2003 (www.asb.co.za).

One of the earliest conceptual frameworks developed subsequently was that
developed by the ASB in the UK as the Statement of Principles — this expanded on the
ideas underlying the Framework and the ASB deserves praise for this.
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2.4 ASB Statement of Principles 1999°

2.4.1

The Statement is of interest because it goes a step further by fleshing out the ideas
contained in the Framework.

As Sir David Tweedie, Chairman of the ASB, commented, “The Board has developed
its Statement of Principles in parallel with its development of accounting standards ... It
is in effect the Board’s compass for when we navigate uncharted waters in the years
ahead. This is essential reading for those who want to know where the Board is coming
from, and where it is aiming to go.’

The Statement contains eight chapters dealing with key issues. Each of the chapters
is commented on below.

Chapter I: ‘The objective of financial statements’

The Statement of Principles follows the IASC Framework in the identification of user groups.

The Statement identifies the investor group as the primary group for whom the
financial statements are being prepared. It then states the information needs of each group
as follows:

® Investors. These need information to:
— assess the stewardship of management, e.g. in safeguarding the entity’s resources and
using them properly, efficiently and profitably;
— take decisions about management, e.g. assessing need for new management;
— take decisions about their investment or potential investment, e.g. deciding whether
to hold, buy or sell shares and assessing the ability to pay dividends.

® Lenders. These need information to:
— determine whether their loans and interest will be paid on time;
— decide whether to lend and on what terms.

® Suppliers. These need information to:
— decide whether to sell to the entity;
— determine whether they will be paid on time;
— determine longer-term stability if the company is a major customer.

® Employees. These need information to:
— assess the stability and profitability of the company;
— assess the ability to provide remuneration, retirement benefits and employment
opportunities.
® Customers. These need information to:
— assess the probability of the continued existence of the company taking account of
their own degree of dependence on the company, e.g. for future provision of
specialised replacement parts and servicing product warranties.

® Government and other agencies. These need information to:
— be aware of the commercial activities of the company;
— regulate these activities;
— raise revenue;
— produce national statistics.

® Public. Members of the public need information to:
— determine the effect on the local economy of the company’s activities, e.g.
employment opportunities, use of local suppliers;
— assess recent developments in the company’s prosperity and changes in its activities.
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The information needs of which group are to be dominant?

Seven groups are identified, but there is only one set of financial statements. Although
they are described as general-purpose statements, a decision has to be made about which
group’s needs take precedence.

The Statement of Principles identifies the investor group as the defining class of user,
i.e. the primary group for whom the financial statements are being prepared.

It takes the view that financial statements ‘are able to focus on the common interest of
users’. The common interest is described thus: ‘all potential users are interested, to a
varying degree, in the financial performance and financial position of the entity as a whole’.

This means that it is a prerequisite that the information must be relevant to the
investor group. This suggests that any need of the other groups that is not also a need
of the investors will not be met by the financial statements.

The 1995 Exposure Draft stated: ‘Awarding primacy to investors does not imply that
other users are to be ignored. The information prepared for investors is useful as a frame
of reference for other users, against which they can evaluate more specific information
that they may obtain in their dealings with the enterprise.’

It is important, therefore, for all of the other users to be aware that this is one of the
principles. If they require specific disclosures that might be relevant to them, they will need
to take their own steps to obtain them, particularly where there is a conflict of interest. For
example, if a closure is being planned by the directors, it may be in the investors’ interest
for the news to be delayed as long as possible to minimise the cost to the company;
employees, suppliers, customers and the public must not expect any assistance from the
financial statements — their information needs are not the primary concern.

What information should be provided to satisfy the information needs?

The Statement proposes that information is required in four areas: financial performance,
financial position, generation and use of cash, and financial adaptability.

Financial performance

Financial performance is defined as the return an entity obtains from the resources it
controls. This return is available from the profit and loss account and provides a means
to assess past management performance, how effectively resources have been utilised and
the capacity to generate cash flows.

Financial position

Financial position is available from an examination of the balance sheet and includes:

@ the economic resources controlled by an entity, i.e. assets and liabilities;

@ financial structure, i.e. capital gearing indicating how profits will be divided between
the different sources of finance and the capacity for raising additional finance in the
future;

@ liquidity and solvency, i.e. current and liquid ratios;

@® capacity to adapt to changes — see below under Financial adaptability.

Generation and use of cash

Information is available from the cash flow statement which shows cash flows from
operating, investment and financing activities providing a perspective that is largely free
from allocation and valuation issues. This information is useful in assessing and reviewing
previous assessments of cash flows.
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Financial adaptability

This is an entity’s ability to alter the amount and timing of its cash flows. It is desirable
in order to be able to cope with difficult periods, e.g. when losses are incurred, and to
take advantage of unexpected investment opportunities. It is dependent on factors such
as the ability, at short notice, to:

@ raise new capital;
@ repay capital or debt;

@® obtain cash from disposal of assets without disrupting continuing business, i.e. realise
readily marketable securities that might have been built up as a liquid reserve;

@ achieve a rapid improvement in net cash flows from operations.

Chapter 2: ‘The reporting entity’

This chapter focuses on identifying when an entity should report and which activities to
include in the report.

When an entity should report
The principle is that an entity should prepare and publish financial statements if:

@ there is a legitimate demand for the information, i.e. it is the case both that it is
decision-useful and that benefits exceed the cost of producing the information; and

@ it is a cohesive economic unit, i.e. a unit under a central control that can be held
accountable for its activities.

Which activities to include

The principle is that those activities should be included that are within the direct control
of the entity, e.g. assets and liabilities which are reported in its own balance sheet, or
indirect control, e.g. assets and liabilities of a subsidiary of the entity which are reported
in the consolidated balance sheet.

Control is defined as (a) the ability to deploy the resources and (b) the ability to benefit
(or to suffer) from their deployment. Indirect control by an investor can be difficult to
determine. The test is not to apply a theoretical level of influence such as holding x%
of shares but to review the relationship that exists between the investor and investee in
practice, such as the investor having the power to veto the investee’s financial and
operating policies and benefit from its net assets.

Chapter 3: ‘The qualitative characteristics of financial information’

The Statement of Principles is based on the IASC Framework and contains the same four
principal qualitative characteristics relating to the content of information and how the
information is presented. The two primary characteristics relating to content are the need
to be relevant and reliable; the two relating to presentation are the need to be
understandable and comparable. The characteristics appear diagrammatically as follows:
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WHAT MAKES FINANCIAL INFORMATION USEFUL?
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From the diagram we can see that for information content to be relevant it must have:

@ the ability to influence the economic decisions of users;

@ predictive value, i.e. help users to evaluate or assess past, present or future events;
or

® confirmatory value, i.e. help users to confirm their past evaluations.
For information to be reliable it must be:

® free from material error, i.e. transactions have been accurately recorded and
reported,;

@ a faithful representation, i.e. reflecting the commercial substance of transactions;
@ neutral, i.e. not presented in a way to achieve a predetermined result;

® prudent, i.e. not creating hidden reserves or excessive provisions, deliberately
understating assets or gains, or deliberately overstating liabilities or losses;

@ complete, i.e. the information is complete subject to a materiality test.

To be useful, the financial information also needs to be comparable over time and
between companies and understandable.

It satisfies the criteria for understandability if it is capable of being understood by a
user with a reasonable knowledge of business activities and accounting, and a willingness
to study the information with reasonable diligence. However, the trade-off between
relevance and reliability comes into play with the requirement that complex information
that is relevant to economic decision making should not be omitted because some
users find it too difficult to understand. There is no absolute answer where there is
the possibility of a trade-off and it is recognised that the relative importance of the
characteristics in different cases is a matter of judgement.

The chapter also introduces the idea of materiality as a threshold quality and any
item that is not material does not require to be considered further. The statement
recognises that no information can be useful if it is not also material by introducing the
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idea of a threshold quality which it describes as follows: ‘An item of information is
material to the financial statements if its misstatement or omission might reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users of those financial statements,
including their assessment of management’s stewardship.’®

First, this means that it is justified not to report immaterial items which would impose
unnecessary costs on preparers and impede decision makers by obscuring material
information with excessive detail.

Secondly, it means that the important consideration is not user expectation (e.g. users
might expect turnover to be accurate to within 1%) but the effect on decision making
(e.g. there might only be an effect if turnover were to be more than 10% over- or
understated, in which case only errors exceeding 10% are material).

It also states that ‘Materiality depends on the size of the item or error judged in the
particular circumstances of its omission or misstatement’. The need to exercise judgement
means that the preparer needs to have a benchmark.

A discussion paper issued in January 1995 by the Financial Reporting & Auditing
Group of the ICAEW entitled ‘Materiality in Financial Reporting FRAG 1/95’ identified
that there are few instances where an actual figure is given by statute or by standard
setters, e.g. FRS 6,7 para. 76 refers to a material minority and indicates that this is
defined as 10%.

The paper also referred to a rule of thumb used in the USA:

The staft of the US Securities and Exchange Commission have an informal rule of
thumb that errors of more than 10% are material, those between 5% and 10% may
be material and those under 5% are usually not material. These percentages are
applied to gross profit, net income, equity and any specific line in the financial
statements that is potentially misstated.

The ASB has moved away from setting percentage benchmarks and there is now a need
for more explicit guidance on the application of the materiality threshold.

Chapter 4: ‘The elements of financial statements’

This chapter gives guidance on the items that could appear in financial statements. These
are described as elements and have the following essential features:

® Assets. These are rights to future economic benefits controlled by an entity as a result
of past transactions or events.

® Liabilities. These are obligations of an entity to transfer future economic benefits as
a result of past transactions or events, i.e. ownership is not essential.

® Ownership interest. This is the residual amount found by deducting all liabilities
from assets which belong to the owners of the entity.

® Gains. These are increases in ownership interest not resulting from contributions by
the owners.

® Losses. These are decreases in ownership interest not resulting from distributions to
the owners.

® Contributions by the owners. These are increases in ownership interest resulting
from transfers from owners in their capacity as owners.

® Distributions to owners. These are decreases in ownership interest resulting from
transfers to owners in their capacity as owners.

These definitions have been used as the basis for developing standards, e.g. assessing the
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substance of a transaction means identifying whether the transaction has given rise to new
assets or liabilities, defined as above.

Chapter 5: ‘Recognition in financial statements’

The objective of financial statements is to disclose in the balance sheet and the profit and
loss account the effect on the assets and liabilities of transactions, e.g. purchase of stock
on credit, and the effect of events, e.g. accidental destruction of a vehicle by fire. This
implies that transactions are recorded under the double entry principle with an
appropriate debit and credit made to the element that has been affected, e.g. the asset
element (stock) and the liability element (creditors) are debited and credited to recognise
stock bought on credit. Events are also recorded under the double entry principle, e.g.
the asset element (vehicle) is derecognised and credited because it is no longer able to
provide future economic benefits and the loss element resulting from the fire damage is
debited to the profit and loss account. The emphasis is on determining the effect on the
assets and liabilities, e.g. the increase in the asset element (stock), the increase in the
liability element (creditors) and the reduction in the asset element (vehicle).

This emphasis has a particular significance for application of the matching concept in
preparing the profit and loss account. The traditional approach to allocating expenditure
across accounting periods has been to identify the costs that should be matched against
the revenue in the profit and loss account and carry the balance into the balance sheet,
i.e. the allocation is driven by the need to match costs to revenue. The Statement of
Principles approach is different in that it identifies the amount of the expenditure to be
recognised as an asset and the balance is transferred to the profit and loss account, i.e.
the question is: ‘Should this expenditure be recognised as an asset (capitalised) and, if
so, should any part of it be derecognised (written off as a loss element)?’

This means that the allocation process now requires an assessment as to whether an
asset exists at the balance sheet date by applying the following test:

1 If the future economic benefits are eliminated at a single point in time, it is at that
point that the loss is recognised and the expenditure derecognised, i.e. the debit
balance is transferred to the profit and loss account.

2 If the future economic benefits are eliminated over several accounting periods —
typically because they are being consumed over a period of time — the cost of the asset
that comprises the future economic benefits will be recognised as a loss in the
performance statement over those accounting periods, i.e. written off as a loss element
as their future economic benefit reduces.

The result of this approach should not lead to changes in the accounts as currently pre-
pared but it does emphasise that matching cost and revenue is not the main driver of
recognition, i.e. the question is not ‘How much expenditure should we match with the
revenue reported in the profit and loss account?’ but rather ‘Are there future economic
benefits arising from the expenditure to justify inclusion in the balance sheet?’ and, if
not, derecognise it, i.e. write it off.

Dealing with uncertainty

There is almost always some uncertainty as to when to recognise an event or transaction, e.g.
when is the asset element of raw material stock to be disclosed as the asset element work-in-
progress? Is it when a stock requisition is issued, when the storekeeper isolates it in the stock
to be issued bay, when it is issued onto the workshop floor, when it begins to be worked on?
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The Statement of Principles states that the principle to be applied if a transaction has
created or added to an existing asset or liability is to recognise it if:

1 sufficient evidence exists that the new asset or liability has been created or that there
has been an addition to an existing asset or liability; and

2 the new asset or liability or the addition to the existing asset or liability can be
measured at a monetary amount with sufficient reliability.

The use of the word sufficient reflects the uncertainty that surrounds the decision when
to recognise and the Statement states: ‘In the business environment, uncertainty usually
exists in a continuum, so the recognition process involves selecting the point on the
continuum at which uncertainty becomes acceptable’.?

Before that point it may, for example, be appropriate to disclose by way of note to the
accounts a contingent liability that is possible (less than 50% chance of crystallising into
a liability) but not probable (more than 50% chance of crystallising).

Sufficient reliability

Prudence requires more persuasive evidence of the measurement for the recognition of
items that result in an increase in ownership interest than for the recognition of items
that do not. However, the exercise of prudence does not allow for the omission of assets
or gains where there is sufficient evidence of occurrence and reliability of measurement,
or for the inclusion of liabilities or losses where there is not. This would amount to the
deliberate understatement of assets or gains, or the deliberate overstatement of liabilities
or losses.

Reporting gains and losses

The disclosure treatment of gains and losses is not addressed. A change in assets or lia-
bilities might arise from three classes of past event: transactions, contracts for future per-
formance and other events such as a change in market price.

If the change in an asset is offset by a change in liability, there will be no gain or loss.
If the change in asset is not offset by a change in liability, there will be a gain
or loss. If there is a gain or loss a decision is required as to whether it should be recognised
in the profit and loss account or in the statement of total recognised gains and losses.

Recognition in profit and loss account

For a gain to be recognised in the profit and loss account, it must have been earned and
realised. Earned means that no material transaction, contract or other event must occur
before the change in the assets or liabilities will have occurred; realised means that the
conversion into cash or cash equivalents must either have occurred or be reasonably
assured.

Profit, as stated in the profit and loss account, is used as a prime measure of
performance. Consequently, prudence requires particularly good evidence for the
recognition of gains.

It is important to note that in this chapter the ASB is following a balance sheet
orientated approach to measuring gains and losses. The conventional profit and loss
account approach would identify the transactions that had been undertaken and allocate
these to financial accounting periods.
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2.4.6 Chapter 6: ‘Measurement in financial statements’

The majority of listed companies in the UK use the mixed measurement system whereby
some assets and liabilities are measured using historical cost and some are measured using
a current value basis. The Statement of Principles envisages that this will continue to be
the practice and states that the aim is to select the basis that:

@ provides information about financial performance and financial position that is useful
in evaluating the reporting entity’s cash-generation abilities and in assessing its
financial adaptability;

@ gives carrying values which are sufficiently reliable: if the historical cost and current
value are equally reliable, the better measure is the one that is the most relevant;
current values may frequently be no less reliable than historical cost figures given the
level of estimation that is required in historical cost figures, e.g. determining provisions
for bad debts, stock provisions, product warranties;

® reflects what the asset and liability represents: e.g. the relevance of short-term
investments to an entity will be the specific future cash flows and these are best
represented by current values.

ASB view on need for a current value basis of measurement

The Statement makes the distinction’ between return on capital — i.e. requiring the
calculation of accounting profit — and return of capital — i.e. requiring the measurement
of capital and testing for capital maintenance. The Statement makes the point that the
financial capital maintenance concept is not satisfactory when significant general or specific
price changes have occurred.

ASB gradualist approach

The underlying support of the ASB for a gradualist move towards the use of current
values is reflected in the statement, ‘Although the objective of financial statements and
the qualitative characteristics of financial information, in particular relevance and relia-
bility may not change ... as markets develop, measurement bases that were once thought
unreliable may become reliable. Similarly, as access to markets develops, so a measure-
ment basis that was once thought insufficiently relevant may become the most relevant
measure available.’!?

Determining current value

Current value systems could be defined as replacement cost (entry value), net realisable
value (exit value) or value in use (discounted present value of future cash flows). The
approach of the Statement is to identify the value to the business by selecting from these
three alternatives the measure that is most relevant in the circumstances. This measure
is referred to as deprival value and represents the loss that the entity would suffer if it
were deprived of the asset.

The value to the business is determined by considering whether the company
would replace the asset. If the answer is yes, then use replacement cost; if the answer
is no but the asset is worth keeping, then use value in use; and if #o and the asset is
not worth keeping, then use net realisable value.
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This can be shown diagrammatically as follows:

Value to the business

= lower of
[ I 1
Replacement cost and Recoverable amount
= higher of
| | |
Value in use and Net realisable value

How will value to the business be implemented?

The ASB is being pragmatic by following an incremental approach to the question of
measurement stating that ‘practice should develop by evolving in the direction of greater
use of current values consistent with the constraints of reliability and cost’. This seems
a sensible position for the ASB to take. Its underlying views were clear when it stated
that ‘a real terms capital maintenance system improves the relevance of information
because it shows current operating margins as well as the extent to which holding gains
and losses reflect the effect of general inflation, so that users of real terms financial

statements are able to select the particular information they require’.!

Policing the mixed measurement system

Many companies have adopted the modified historical cost basis and revalued their fixed
assets on a selective basis. However, this piecemeal approach allowed companies to cherry-
pick the assets they wish to revalue on a selective basis at times when market values have
risen. The ASB have adopted the same approach as IAS 16."

Chapter 7: ‘Presentation of financial information’

Chapter 7 states that the objective of the presentation adopted is to communicate clearly and
effectively and in as simple and straightforward manner as is possible without loss of relevance
or reliability and without significantly increasing the length of the financial statements.

The point about length is well made given the length of current annual reports and
accounts. Recent examples include Jenoptik AG extending to 81 pages, Sea Containers
Ltd, 76 pages and Hugo Boss, 115 pages.

The Statement analyses the way in which information should be presented in financial
statements. It covers the requirement for items to be aggregated and classified and outlines
good presentation practices in the statement of financial performance, balance sheet, cash
flow statement and accompanying information, e.g.:

Statement of financial performance

Good presentation involves:

® Recognising only gains and losses.

@ Classifying items by function, e.g. production, selling, administrative, and nature, e.g.
interest payable.

® Showing separately amounts that are affected in different ways by economic or
commercial conditions, e.g. continuing, acquired and discontinued operations,
segmental geographical information.
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® Showing separately:
— items unusual in amount or incidence;
— expenses that are not operating expenses, e.g. financing costs and taxation;
— expenses that relate primarily to future periods, e.g. research expenditure.

Balance sheet

Good presentation involves:

® Recognising only assets, liabilities and ownership interest.

@ Classifying assets so that users can assess the nature, amounts and liquidity of available
resources.

@ Classifying assets and liabilities so that users can assess the nature, amounts and timing
of obligations that require or may require liquid resources for settlement.

@ Classifying assets by function, e.g. show non-current assets and current assets separately.

Accompanying information

Typical information includes chairman’s statement, directors’ report, operating and
financial review, highlights and summary indicators.

The Statement states that the more complex an entity and its transactions become, the
more users need an objective and comprehensive analysis and explanation of the main
features underlying the entity’s financial performance and financial position.

Good presentation involves discussion of:

® The main factors underlying financial performance, including the principal risks,
uncertainties and trends in main business areas and how the entity is responding.

@ The strategies adopted for capital structure and treasury policy.

® The activities and expenditure (other than capital expenditure) that are investment in
the future.

It is interesting to note the Statement view that highlights and summary indicators,
such as amounts and ratios that attempt to distil key information, cannot on their own
adequately describe or provide a basis for meaningful analysis or prudent decision
making. It does, however, state: “That having been said, well-presented highlights and
summary indicators are useful to users who require only very basic information, such as
the amount of sales or dividends.” The ASB will be giving further consideration to this
view that there is a need for a really brief report.

Chapter 8: ‘Accounting for interests in other entities’

Interests in other entities can have a material effect on the company’s own financial
performance and financial position and need to be fully reflected in the financial
statements. As an example, an extract from the 2004 Annual Report and Accounts of
Stagecoach plc shows:

Company balance sheet  Consolidated balance sheet

Tangible fixed assets £4.1m 618.0m
Investments £923.8m 110.2m
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In deciding whether to include the assets in the consolidated balance sheet a key factor
is the degree of influence exerted over the activities and resources of the investee:

® If the degree of influence allows control of the operating and financial policies, the
financial statements are aggregated.

@ If the investor has joint control or significant influence, the investor’s share of the gains
and losses is recognised in the consolidated profit and loss account and reflected in the
carrying value of the investment.

However, there is no clear agreement on the treatment of interests in other entities, and
further developments can be expected.

2.5 AICPA Improving Business Reporting — A Customer Focus:
Meeting the Information Needs of Investors and Creditors

This was a study carried out by AICPA in the USA over a three-year period and
published in 1994.53 It resulted in a number of interesting recommendations to improve
business reporting. A major recommendation was that standard setters should develop a
comprehensive model of business reporting, focusing on factors that create longer-term
value and including financial and non-financial measures to cope with rapid changes, e.g.
in technology and competition.

The committee identified that users had a high interest in being able to identify:

® trends, e.g. from five-year summaries of key statistics, separate reporting of segments
and core and non-core assets and liabilities information;

® substance of transactions, e.g. accounting for off balance sheet transactions,
complex capital instruments and investments in unconsolidated entities;

® significant risks arising from uncertainties over the valuation of assets and
liabilities.

The committee identified that the users had a lower interest in:

® the variety of income theories;
® the valuation of intangible assets;

@ accounting for combinations.
The committee identified user interest in a number of non-financial areas:

@ the corporate strategy in general terms;
® the strengths, weaknesses, opportunities and threats (SWOTs) to the company;

@ performance measures that management use with an explanation of reasons for changes
and trends;

@ management plans and degree to which achieved;

® information about the directors and management and their remuneration packages.

A review of the recommendations broadly supports the stance being taken by the IASC,
with mandatory standards being introduced for the financial statements and voluntary
disclosures for non-financial areas, e.g. management reports. Auditors check that the
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comments made in the management reports do not give a picture that conflicts with the
financial statements. The following is an extract from the audit report of KPMG Austria
Gmbh on the 2000 Annual Report of EVN AG (an TAS compliant company):

We confirm that the Management Report complies with the consolidated
statements and that the legal requirements are met to exempt EVN AG from the
obligation to compile financial statements in accordance with the Austrian
commercial code.

2.6 ICAS Making Corporate Reports Valuable

In 1988, following a major research project by its Research Committee, the Institute of
Chartered Accountants of Scotland (ICAS) published the Making Corporate Reports
Valuable (MCRV )™ report. The general objective of MCR) was to stimulate discussion
that would lead to improvements in corporate reporting. The long-term purpose was that
reports should be produced that would be better able to assist the user in gauging
management performance and assessing an entity’s prospects; reports that were more
understandable, less daunting in presentation, more readable and with as little technical
jargon as possible.

In pursuit of this goal MCRV formulated the Research Committee’s views on meeting
the needs of management and investors. It considered company strategy and planning,
the need for clear financial statements covering such areas as entity objectives, present
financial wealth, changes in financial wealth, operations, distributable wealth, cash flow
and segmental information.

The report criticised historical cost accounting and supported the use of a current
value system. It also advocated the publication of projected results so that the user would
have available the preceding year’s figures, the current year’s and the subsequent year’s.

To its credit, the Research Committee demonstrated that its proposals could be applied
in practice by preparing the financial statements of Melody plc and obtaining feedback
from the preparers of the accounts. These were published in 1990 and are perhaps a
prototype of what financial statements might look like in the future.

The balance sheet was described as a statement of assets and liabilities and was a value
statement. Assets, including stock, were revalued in current terms, thus breaking away
from the historical cost philosophy. The net assets at the end of the period were the
financial wealth generated by operations plus any increase in the realisable value of financial
wealth.

The profit and loss account was described as an operations statement and, by including
stock at market value, produced a residual figure called financial wealth generated by
operations.

The annual report also contained a statement of cash flow, a value added statement, a
chairman’s review, a directors’ report and a document referred to as ‘Management’s
discussions and analysis of financial conditions and results of operations’ for the year
under review, supplemented by the financial plans for the following year.

The auditors’ report appears as the ‘Report of the independent assessors’. It is
addressed to the members, creditors and employees of Melody plc and is more informative
than the traditional short-form report favoured in the UK.

Another statement that makes its debut spells out ‘responsibility for the financial
statements’. It informs the user that the ultimate responsibility lies with the directors,
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and in doing so it also explains the role of the independent assessors and the nature of
their report.

MCRYV is a useful addition to our experience of financial reporting and its influence
will no doubt be felt as the standard setters move towards dealing with the problem of
an appropriate measurement base.

It might be useful at this point to list some of the key thoughts in MCRJ:

Representation of position

® Accounts should aim to portray economic reality.
® Substance over form is emphasised.

® The investors need the same information as the management.

Income

@ It is against excessive emphasis on the bottom line with a single earnings figure.

® It emphasises the balance sheet rather than accruals-based income. Income is seen as
a reconciliation between consecutive balance sheets expressed in current values.

Capital maintenance

@ It takes a proprietary view in seeking to maintain the owners’ purchasing power using
a consumer price index.

Measurement base

® It supports the use of net realisable values.

Summary

Directors and accountants are constrained by a mass of rules and regulations which
govern the measurement, presentation and disclosure of financial information.

There have been a number of reports relating to financial reporting. The
preparation and presentation of financial statements continue to evolve. Steps are
being taken to provide a conceptual framework and there is growing international
agreement on the setting of standards.

User needs have been accepted as paramount; qualitative characteristics of
information have been specified; the elements of financial statements have been
defined precisely; the presentation of financial information has been prescribed; and
comparability between companies is seen as desirable.

However, the intention remains to produce financial statements that present a fair
view. This is not achieved by detailed rules and regulations, and the exercise of
judgement will continue to be needed. This opens the way for creative accounting
practices that bring financial reporting and the accounting profession into disrepute.
Strenuous efforts will continue to be needed from the auditors and the IASB to
contain the use of unacceptable practices. The regulatory bodies show that they have
every intention of accepting the challenge.
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The question of the measurement base that should be used has yet to be settled.
The measurement question still remains a major area of financial reporting that needs
to be addressed.

The Framework sees the objective of financial statements as providing information
about the financial position, performance and financial adaptability of an enterprise
that is useful to a wide range of users in making economic decisions. It recognises
that they are limited because they largely show the financial effects of past events
and do not necessarily show non-financial information. On the question of
measurement the view has been expressed that

historical cost has the merit of familiarity and (to some extent) objectivity;
current values have the advantage of greater relevance to users of the accounts
who wish to assess the current state or recent performance of the business, but
they may sometimes be unreliable or too expensive to provide. It concludes that
practice should develop by evolving in the direction of greater use of current
values to the extent that this is consistent with the constraints of reliability, cost
and acceptability to the financial community."

There are critics!® who argue that the concern with recording current asset values
rather than historical costs means that

the essential division between the IASC and its critics is one between those who
are more concerned about where they want to be and those who want to be very
clear about where they are now. It is a division between those who see the
purpose of financial statements as taking economic decisions about the future,
and those who see it as a basis for making management accountable and for
distributing the rewards among the stakeholders.

Finally, it is interesting to give some thought to extracts from two publications
which indicate that there is still a long way to go in the evolution of financial
reporting, and that there is little room for complacency.

The first is from The Future Shape of Financial Reports:

As Solomons!'” and Making Corporate Reports Valuable discussed in detail, the
then system of financial reporting in the UK fails to satisfy the purpose of
providing information to shareholders, lenders and others to appraise past
performance in order to form expectations about an organisation’s future
performance in five main respects:

1 ... measures of performance ... are based on original or historical costs ...

2 Much emphasis is placed on a single measure of earnings per share ...

3 ... insufficient attention is paid to changes in an enterprise’s cash or liquidity
position ...

4 The present system is essentially backward looking ...

5 Emphasis is often placed on the legal form rather than on the economic
substance of transactions ... .!8

We have seen that some of these five limitations are being addressed, but not all, e.g.
the provision of projected figures.
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The second extract is from Making Corporate Reports Valuable:

The present balance sheet almost defies comprehension. Assets are shown at
depreciated historical cost, at amounts representing current valuations and at the
results of revaluations of earlier periods (probably also depreciated); that is there
is no consistency whatsoever in valuation practice. The sum total of the assets,
therefore, is meaningless and combining it with the liabilities to show the
entity’s financial position does not in practice achieve anything worthwhile."

The TASB has taken steps to deal with the frequency of revaluations but the criticism
still holds in that there will continue to be financial statements produced incorpo-
rating mixed measurement bases.

The point made by some critics remains unresolved:

Accountability and the IASC’s decision usefulness are not compatible. Forward-
looking decisions require forecasts of future cash flows, which in the economic
model are what determines the values of assets. These values are too subjective
to form the basis of accountability. The definition of assets and the recognition
rules restrict assets to economic benefits the enterprise controls as a result of
past events and that are measurable with sufficient reliability. But economic
decision making requires examination of all sources of future cash flows, not just
a restricted sub-set of them.?

The need for a conceptual framework is being addressed around the world. In both
the TASB and the USA, the approach has been the same, i.e. commencing with a
consideration of the objectives of financial statements, qualitative characteristics of
financial information, definition of the elements, and when these are to be recognised
in the financial statements. There is a general agreement on these areas.

REVIEW QUESTIONS

I (a) Name the user groups and information needs of the user groups identified by the IASC
Framework for the Presentation and Preparation of Financial Statements.
(b) Discuss the effect of the Framework on current financial reporting practice.

2 Give a brief synopsis of the ICAS Making Corporate Reports Valuable.

3 R Macve in A Conceptual Framework for Financial Accounting and Reporting: The Possibilities for an
Agreed Structure suggested that the search for a conceptual framework was a political process.
Discuss the effect that this thinking has had and will have on standard setting.
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4 (a) In 1999 in the UK, the ASB published the Statement of Principles. Explain what you consider to
be the purpose and status of the Statement.

(b) Chapter 4 of the Statement identifies and defines what the ASB believes to be the elements
that make up financial statements. Define any four of the elements and explain how, in your
opinion, the identification and definition of the elements of financial statements would enhance
financial reporting.

(c) Chapter 5 of the Statement states that matching is not regarded as the driver of the recognition
process. Explain what is meant by this and its probable effect in practice.

5 The replacement of accrual accounting with cash flow accounting would avoid the need for a
conceptual framework.?' Discuss.

6 Financial accounting theory has accumulated a vast literature. A cynic might be inclined to say that
the vastness of the literature is in sharp contrast to its impact on practice.
(a) Describe the different approaches that have evolved in the development of accounting
theory.
(b) Assess its impact on standard setting.
(c) Discuss the contribution of accounting theory to the understanding of accounting practice, and
suggest contributions that it might make in the future.

EXERCISES

An extract from the solution is provided in the Appendix at the end of the text for exercises marked
with an asterisk (*).

* Question |

The following information is available in relation to MCRV Ltd (based on the ICAS Report) for the year
ending 31 December 20X8:

(a) Statement of assets and liabilities as at 31 December: This statement at the start of the year is
assumed to contain valuations at net realisable value throughout:
(i) Fixed assets are estimated by the directors on the basis of an orderly disposal in a
second-hand market.
(i) The NRV of raw materials was assumed by the directors to be the same as their purchase
price.
(i) The NRV of finished goods was estimated as selling price less the estimated costs of disposal
in the normal course of business.
(b) A summary of the cash book.
(c) The non-cash transactions during the year are as shown in the journal entries.
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Statement of assets and liabilities as at 31 December

20X7 20X8
£ £
Fixed assets 200 270
Current assets
Stock 50 66
Debtors 30 40
Cash _10 76
2% 452
Less:
Current liabilities
Creditors 35 30
Long-term loans 60 70
95 100
195 352

Cash transactions during the year ended 31 December 20X8

Cash received during 20X8: £ £
Credit customers 190
Long-term loans 30

220

Cash paid during 20X8:

Credit suppliers 85
Fixed assets 30
Salaries 30
Loan interest 9
154
6
Journal entries for non-cash transactions for the year ended
31 December 20X8
Dr Cr
£ £

Debtors 200

Sales 200

Credit sales for 20X8

Stock 80

Creditors 80

Credit purchases for 20X8

Cost of goods sold 70

Stock 70
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Journal entries for non-cash transactions for the year ended
31 December 20X8

Dr Cr
£ £
Goods used for sale
Stock 6
Cost of goods sold — being uplift in closing 6

stock from cost to net realisable value

Required:

(a) Prepare an operations statement for the year ended 3| December 20X8 to show wealth
created by operations.

(b) Prepare a statement of changes in wealth, in the following format:

Increase in wealth due to operations

Increase in value of fixed assets

Decrease in value of long-term loans

Realisable increase in net assets -

(c) Explain circumstances in which there can be a decrease in the value of long-term loans.

(d) Explain how the percentage return on capital employed, current ratio and acid test ratio based
on the historical cost concept would differ from those calculated using the concept applied in
the above question.

(Adapted from extract in Melody plc annual report (ICAS))

Question 2

The following extract is from Conceptual Framework for Financial Accounting and Reporting: Elements of
Financial Statements and Their Measurement, FASB 3, December 1976.

The benefits of achieving agreement on a conceptual framework for financial accounting and
reporting manifest themselves in several ways. Among other things, a conceptual framework can
(1) guide the body responsible for establishing accounting standards, (2) provide a frame of
reference for resolving accounting questions in the absence of a specific promulgated standard,
(3) determine bounds for judgement in preparing financial statements, (4) increase financial
statement users’ understanding of and confidence in financial statements, and (5) enhance
comparability.

Required:

(a) Define a conceptual framework.

(b) Critically examine why the benefits provided in the above statements are likely to flow from
the development of a conceptual framework for accounting.

Question 3

The following extract is from ‘Comments of Leonard Spacek’,in R T. Sprouse and M. Moonitz, A Tentative
Set of Broad Accounting Principles for Business Enterprises, Accounting Research Study No. 3, AICPA,
New York, 1962, reproduced in A. Belkaoui, Accounting Theory, Harcourt Brace Jovanovich (2001).

A discussion of assets, liabilities, revenue and costs is premature and meaningless until the basic
principles that will result in a fair presentation of the facts in the form of financial accounting
and financial reporting are determined. This fairness of accounting and reporting must be for
and to people, and these people represent the various segments of our society.
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Required:
(a) Explain the term ‘fair’.
(b) Discuss the extent to which the IASC conceptual framework satisfies the above definition.

Question 4

The following is an extract from Accountancy Age, 25 January 2001.

A powerful and ‘shadowy’ group of senior partners from the seven largest firms has
emerged to move closer to edging control of accounting standards from the world's
accountancy regulators ... they form the Global Steering Committee ...The GSC has
worked on plans to improve standards for the last two years after scathing criticism from
investors that firms produced varying standards of audit in different countries.

Discuss the effect on standard setting if control were to be edged from the world's accountancy

regulators.
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CHAPTER 3

Published accounts of companies

3.1

Introduction

Each company sends an annual report and accounts to its shareholders. It is the means
by which the directors are accountable for their stewardship of the assets and their
handling of the company’s affairs for the past year. It consists of financial data which
may have been audited and narrative comment which may be reviewed by the auditors
to check that it does not present a picture that differs from the financial data (i.e. that
the narrative is not misleading).

The financial data consist of four financial statements. These are the income
statement, balance sheet, cash flow statement and statement of changes in equity —
supported by appropriate explanatory notes, e.g. showing the make-up of inventories and
the movement in non-current assets. In addition, public listed companies are required to
provide segmental reports.

The narrative report from the directors satisfies two needs: (a) to explain what has
been achieved in the current year and (b) to assist existing and potential investors to make
their own predictions of cash flows of future years.

The current year

The directors’ report or management report might contain items such as:

@ investor data, e.g. market conditions, share issues, share splits, buybacks, company’s
share price movements, highs/lows and price relative to the market, dividend per share
and dividend cover;

@® macro data, e.g. the economic climate, currency fluctuations;

® company data such as:
— key figures/financial highlights, e.g. incoming orders, turnover, EBIT, EBT, net
income, employees;
— key ratios, e.g. sales growth, operating margins, return on equity;
— sales performance in key markets;
— explanations of unusual movements in financial data, e.g. why receivables have
increased significantly.

Future cash flows

Investors need information to form their view on future cash flows which will be the basis
for dividend payouts and capital gains. Directors provide selective information which they
see as significant and relevant on items such as:
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@ capital investment programme;

® changes in production capacity, e.g. new facilities coming on stream, relocation to
lower cost areas;

® research and development plans, e.g. new development agreements and alliances;

@ prognosis, e.g. directors expect to increase sales by 5% to 7% in the current financial
year, with even stronger growth in earnings, provided no unforeseen events occur;

@ corporate strategy, e.g. how to deal with any low profitability segments, possible
divestments or acquisitions.

In this chapter we consider public listed companies, i.e. companies that have their shares
traded on a recognised stock exchange. We use extracts from the Annual Reports and
Notes on Accounts of the Nestle Group and Findel plc as main illustrations. We will
consider the following:

® a company’s financial calendar;

@ the income statement:
— criteria for the information that is published;
— format of the income statement required by Format 1 and Format 2;
— classification of costs in the income statement — does it matter under which heading
a cost is classified provided it is not omitted?
— treatment of discontinuing operations;

® the balance sheet:
— format of the balance sheet;
— accounting rules for asset valuation;

@ the statement of changes in equity:

— rationale and format;
@ segment reporting:

— effect of TIAS 14 Segment Reporting on presentation;
@® accounting policies:

— disclosure requirements
— effect of different policies on analysis of the accounts;

@ additional information in annual reports:
— directors’/management reports;

® IFRS 1 First-Time Adoption of International Accounting Standards.

3.2 A public company’s financial calendar

The ownership and management of a public company whose shares are listed on a stock
exchange are separate. The owners or shareholders are provided with regular information
for stewardship accountability and to allow them to make investment decisions. Each
company follows its own financial calendar, often published as a financial calendar or key
dates.

Important dates 2004 for the Nestlé Group (as published in the 2003 annual report)
21 April 2004 Announcement of first quarter 2004 sales figures
22 April 2004 137th Ordinary General Meeting, ‘Palais de Beaulieu’, Lausanne
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28 April 2004 Payment of the dividend
18 August 2004 Publication of the half-yearly report January—June 2004
21 October 2004  Announcement of first nine months’ 2004 sales figures

Autumn press conference

Note:

® The above key dates are for a Swiss company, and therefore at each event Swiss
legal requirements must be followed. Different countries do have different legal
requirements, but the principle of issuing a financial calendar remains across
companies in other countries.

@ The planned programme of communication with institutional investors and analysts
is in recognition of the fact that the market hates surprises and share price is
strengthened by regular communication.

3.3 Criteria for information appearing in a published income statement
and balance sheet

There are four criteria to consider:

® the format complies with IAS 1 and/or any national statutory requirements;

@ the accounting policies comply with appropriate IASs or any national statutory
requirements;

@® there are appropriate notes;

@ the financial statements present a fair view of the profits and of the assets and
liabilities.

We comment on each of these in turn.

3.4 The prescribed formats — the income statement

TAS 1 does not prescribe how an income statement is presented. The TASB appreciate
that different businesses may need different layouts in order to present their results fairly.
Nevertheless, there are requirements that certain items must be presented on the face of
the income statement, and also as regards the structure of expenses within the income
statement.

The minimum information content on the face of the income statement is:

(i) revenue;

(i1) finance costs;

(ii1) share of the profit or loss of associates and joint ventures accounted for using the
equity method,

(iv) pre-tax gain or loss recognised on the disposal of assets or settlement of liabilities
attributable to discontinuing operations;

(v) tax expense;

(vi) profit or loss.
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The following must also be disclosed on the face of the income statement as allocations
of profit or loss for the period:

(i) profit or loss attributable to minority interest; and

(i1) profit or loss attributable to equity holders of the parent.

The minimum information does not contain the detail of income and expenses, but this
information must be presented in the notes to the accounts at least. Most businesses are
likely to put some detail of this on the face of the income statement.

TAS 1 allows a company a choice of two formats for detailing income and expenses.
The two choices allow for the analysis of costs in different ways: according to function,
e.g. cost of sales, distribution costs and administration expenses, or according to nature,
e.g. raw materials, wages and depreciation. The formats! are as follows:

Format 1: Vertical with costs analysed according to function.
Format 2: Vertical with costs analysed according to nature.

Many companies use Format 1 (unless there is any national requirement to use Format
2) with the costs analysed according to function. If this format is used the information
regarding the nature of expenditure (e.g. raw materials, wages and depreciation) must be
disclosed in a note to the accounts.

3.5 What information is required to be disclosed in Format | and
Format 2?

3.5.1

An illustration of an income statement using the two IAS 1 formats is set out in Figure
3.1. Note that in both formats the same amount is disclosed for profit before tax. Profit
from operations is permitted but not required.

Classification of operating expenses and other income by function as
in Format |

In order to arrive at its operating profit, a company needs to classify all of the operating
expenses of the business into one of four categories:

® cost of sales
@ distribution and selling costs
@ administrative expenses

@ other operating income.

We comment briefly on each to explain how a company might classify its trading
transactions. This will also indicate how the same transaction might be classified
differently by different companies and so result in a different gross profit figure. It does
not affect inter-period comparisons but it is important to remember when making inter-
company comparisons.
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Figure 3.1 lllustration of Formats | and 2

Format | Format 2
Classification of expense by function Classification of expense by nature

£000 £000

Revenue 1,000 Revenue 1,000

Cost of sales 400

Gross profit 600

Other income 20 Other income 20

Distribution costs (120)

Administrative expenses (70)

Changes in inventories of finished
goods and work-in-progress 20
Work performed by enterprise and

capitalised 125
Raw materials and consumables (140)
Staff costs (205)
Depreciation and amortisation (1'10)
Other operating expenses 280
Profit from operations 430 430
Finance cost (26) (26)
Income from associates 27 27
Profit before tax 431 431
Income tax expense 130 130
Net profit for the period 301 301

Note:

® Changes in inventories of finished goods and work-in-progress in this example are negative
because the closing inventories were less than the opening inventories. The changes will be
positive if the closing inventories are greater than the opening inventories.

@ [f a company classifies expense by function, it is required to disclose also information on the
classification of expense by nature, including depreciation and amortisation expenses and staff
costs — these are useful in predicting future cash flows and are necessary if preparing a Value
Added Statement.

3.6 Cost of sales

Expenditure classified under cost of sales will typically include direct costs, overheads,
depreciation and amortisation expense and adjustments. The items that might appear
under each heading are:

® Direct costs:
direct materials purchased; direct labour; other external charges that comprise
production costs from external sources, e.g. equipment rental and subcontracting costs.
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3.6.1

3.6.2

® Overheads:
variable production overheads; fixed production overheads.

® Depreciation and amortisation:

depreciation of fixed assets used in production; impairment expense; exceptional

amounts written off inventory; research costs and development costs.

® Adjustments:

— Change between the opening and closing inventory. If closing inventory is less
than opening inventory, the reduction must have been sold and the cost of sales will
be increased by the amount that the inventory has fallen. Conversely,
if closing inventory is more than opening inventory, the amount by which it has
increased will not be included as a cost of the current period’s sales.

— Capitalisation of own work as a non-current asset. Any amount of the costs
listed above that have been incurred in the construction of non-current assets for
retention by the company will not appear as an expense in the income statement: it
will be capitalised. Any amount capitalised in this way would be treated for
accounting purposes as a non-current asset and depreciated.

— Capitalisation of own work as a deferred asset. Any amount of the costs listed
above that needs to be deferred to a future accounting period because the benefits
of the expenditure can be reasonably matched with revenue expected in a future
period, e.g. development expenditure capitalised under IAS 38, would be treated for
accounting purposes as a deferred asset and expensed by matching with the revenue
as it arises in the future accounting periods. IAS 38 is considered in detail in
Chapter 12.

— Treatment of variances from standard. Where a company uses a standard
costing system, the variances can either be transferred in total to the income
statement or be allocated to the cost of sales and the inventory. Any variance
allocated to the inventory will have an impact on the results of a subsequent period.
(This aspect is considered in Chapter 13.)

Why cost of sales figures may not be comparable between companies

The cost of sales figure is derived under the accrual accounting concept. This means that
(a) the cash flows have been adjusted by the management in order to arrive at the expense
that management considers to be associated with the sales achieved; and (b) additional
adjustments may have been made to increase the cost of sales if the net realisable value
of the closing inventory is less than cost. Clearly, when managers adjust the cash flow
figures they are exercising their judgement, and it is impossible to ensure that the
management of two companies faced with the same economic activity would arrive at the
same adjustment. We will now consider the following reasons for differences in
calculating the cost of sales: treatment of direct costs; choice of depreciation policy;
management attitudes; and the accounting system capability.

Differences arising from the treatment of direct costs

Different companies may assume different physical flows when calculating the cost of
direct materials used in production. This will affect the inventory valuation. One
company may assume a first-in-first-out (FFIFO) flow, where the cost of sales is charged
for raw materials used in production as if the first items purchased were the first items
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used in production. Another company may use a weighted average basis. This is

illustrated in Figure 3.2 for a company that started trading on 1 January 20X1 without
any opening inventory and sold 40,000 items on 31 March 20X1 for £4 per item.

Figure 3.2 Effect on cost of sales of using FIFO and weighted average

Weighted
FIFO average
ltems £ £ £
Raw materials purchased
On | Jan 20X1 at £1 per item 20,000 20,000
On | Feb 20XI at £2 per item 20,000 40,000
On | Mar 20X at £3 per item 20,000 60,000
On | Mar 20XI in stock 60,000 120,000 120,000 120,000
On 31 Mar 20X in stock 20,000 60,000 40,000
Cost of sales 40,000 60,000 80,000

FIFO inventory is 20,000 items at a cost of £3 per item, assuming that the purchases
made on 1 January 20X1 and 1 February 20X1 were sold first. Weighted average
inventory is 20,000 items at a cost of £2 per item, being the total cost of £120,000
divided by 60,000, the total number of items at the date of the sale.

The effect on the gross profit percentage would be as shown in Figure 3.3. This
demonstrates that, even from a single difference in accounting treatment, the gross profit
for the same transaction could be materially different in both absolute and percentage
terms.

Figure 3.3 Effect of physical stock flow assumptions on the percentage gross profit

FIFO Weighted % difference
average in gross profit
ltems £ £
Sales 40,000 160,000 160,000
Cost of sales 40,000 60,000 80,000
100,000 80,000
Gross profit % 62.5% 50% 25%

How can the investor determine the effect of different assumptions?

Although companies are required to disclose their inventory valuation policy, the level of
detail provided varies and we are not able to quantify the effect of different inventory
valuation policies. For example, compare the accounting policy of AstraZeneca in Figure
3.4 with that of Findel plc in Figure 3.5. In the latter case, we are not even aware of the
definition of cost that the company is actually using.

Note also that both companies are UK-based. In the UK, ‘stock’ is a common
alternative term for inventory as used in international accounting standards.



56 + Regulatory framework — an attempt to achieve uniformity

3.6.3

3.6.4

3.6.5

Figure 3.4 AstraZeneca accounting policy for stock valuation (2003 annual report)

Stocks are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value and raw materials and

other stocks at the lower of cost or replacement price. The first-in-first-out or an average
method of valuation is used. In determining cost, depreciation is included but selling expenses
and certain overhead expenses (principally central administration costs) are excluded. Net

realisable value is determined as estimated selling price less costs of disposal.

Figure 3.5 Findel plc accounting policy for stocks (2002 annual report)

Stocks are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

While we can carry out academic exercises as in Figure 3.3 and we are aware of the
effect of different inventory valuation policies on the level of profits, there is no way in
real life that we can be certain of being able to carry out such an exercise.

Differences arising from the choice of depreciation policy
The charge made for depreciation might vary because of different approaches:

® methods, e.g. straight-line or reducing balance;

@ assumptions on productive use, e.g. different assessments of the economic life of an
asset;

@ carrying values, e.g. at cost or at revaluation;

@ assumptions of total cost to be expensed, e.g. different assumptions about the residual
value of an asset.

Differences arising from management attitudes

Losses might be anticipated and measured at a different rate. For example, when
assessing the likelihood of the net realisable value of inventory falling below the cost
figure, the management decision will be influenced by the optimism with which it views
the future of the economy, the industry and the company. There could also be other
influences, e.g. remuneration packages based on net income or preparation of the
company for a buyout by management.

Differences arising from the capability of the accounting system to
provide data

Accounting systems within companies differ, e.g. costs that are collected by one company
may well not be collected by another company. For example, the costs of some activities
may be spread across a number of departments and different expenditure types, e.g. the
cost of researching, sourcing and testing new materials for use in a production process.
If it is not practicable to collect the information, consistency of presentation of this type
of expenditure may not be possible. This could also affect assessment and comparison of
segment performance.
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3.7 Distribution costs

These are costs incurred after the production of the finished article and up to and
including transfer of the goods to the customer. Expenditure classified under this heading
will typically include the following:

® warchousing costs associated with the operation of the premises, e.g. rent, rates,
insurance, utilities, depreciation, repairs and maintenance; wage costs, €.g. gross wages
and pension contributions of warehouse staff;

@ promotion costs, e.g. advertising, trade shows;

@ sclling costs, e.g. salaries, commissions and pension contributions of sales staff; costs
associated with the premises, e.g. rent, rates; cash discounts on sales; travelling and
entertainment;

@ transport costs, e.g. gross wages and pension contributions of transport staff, vehicle
costs, e.g. running, maintenance, depreciation.

3.8 Administrative expenses

These are all those operating costs that have not been classified as either cost of sales or
distribution costs. Expenditure classified under this heading will typically include:

@ Administration, e.g. salaries, commissions, and pension contributions of administration
staff; costs associated with the premises, e.g. rent, rates; amounts written off the
receivables that appear in the balance sheet under current assets; professional fees.

3.9 Other income

Under this heading a company discloses material income derived from ordinary activities
of the business that have not been included in the revenue figure. If the amounts are not
material, they would not be separately disclosed but included within the revenue figure.
Income classified under this heading will typically include the following:

® income derived from intangible assets, e.g. royalties, commissions;

® income derived from third-party use of property, plant and equipment that is surplus
to the current productive needs of the company;

@ income received from employees, e.g. canteen, recreation fees.

3.10 What costs and income are brought into account after calculating
the trading profit in order to arrive at the profit on ordinary
activities before tax?

We have explained the four categories of cost and other income that are taken into
account when calculating the trading profit. In order to arrive at the profit on ordinary
activities before tax, income from investments and loans is required to be disclosed
separately and not included with the other income — unless, of course, the investment or
loan income is not material and is included within the other operating income for
convenience.



58 + Regulatory framework — an attempt to achieve uniformity

3.11 Does it really matter under which heading a cost is classified in the
income statement provided it is not omitted?

This depends on how readers of the accounts use the gross profit and trading profit
figures. An examination of annual reports indicates that directors usually make less
reference to the gross profit figure and instead draw attention to the operating profit (or
trading profit) figure. Operating profit is used to calculate the return on capital employed,
as illustrated, for example, by the BOC Group annual report for 2004, where the return
on capital for 2004 was 14.9% defined as operating profit as a percentage of average cap-
ital employed.

3.12 Discontinued operations disclosure in the income statement

3.12.1

IFRS 5 Non-Current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations is one of the
outcomes of the joint short-term project to reduce differences between IFRSs and US
GAAP. It follows the TASB’s consideration of FASB Statement No. 144 Accounting for
the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets (SFAS 144) which deals with the
classification and presentation of discontinued operations.

The objective? is to help users evaluate the financial effects of discontinued operations,
e.g. when making projections of future cash flows, earnings-generating capacity and the
financial position.

IFRS 5 replaces TAS 35 Discontinuing Operations and provides that:

@ an operation is classified as discontinued at the date the operation meets the criteria
to be classified as held for sale or when the entity has disposed of the operation;

® the results of discontinued operations are to be shown separately on the face of the
income statement; and

@ an operation cannot be retrospectively classified as discontinued if the criteria for that
classification are not met until after the balance sheet date.

Definition of discontinued operations

A discontinued operation® is a component of an entity that either has been disposed of,
or is classified as held for sale, and

(a) represents a separate major line of business or geographical area of operations as
reported in accordance with TAS 14;

(b) is part of a single co-ordinated plan to dispose of a separate major line of business
or geographical area of operations; or

(c) is a subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to resale.

Definition of a component

The IFRS defines a component as one which comprises operations and cash flows that
can be clearly distinguished, operationally and for financial reporting purposes, from the
rest of the entity, e.g. a cash-generating unit or a group of cash-generating units, while
being held for use.
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Definition of held for sale

It would be attractive for managers to be able to separate out loss-making operations in
the annual report to present a better picture to shareholders, whilst taking cost reduction
measures to bring a division or segment back to profitability. In order to stop enterprises
classifying activities as held for resale when it is not appropriate, IFRS 5 defines a
disposal group as held for sale if its carrying amount will be recovered principally through
a sale transaction rather than through continuing use. It further provides that the disposal
group must be available for immediate sale in its present condition and its sale must be
highly probable.
For the sale to be highly probable requires that:

@ the appropriate level of management must be committed to a plan to sell the disposal
group;

@® an active programme to locate a buyer and complete the plan must have been
initiated;

@ the disposal group must be actively marketed for sale at a price that is reasonable in
relation to its current fair value;

@ the sale should be expected to qualify for recognition as a completed sale within one
year from the date of classification;

@ actions required to complete the plan should indicate that it is unlikely that significant
changes to the plan will be made or that the plan will be withdrawn.

There is a pragmatic recognition that there may be events outside the control of the
enterprise which prevent completion within one year. In such a case the held-for-sale
classification is retained, provided there is sufficient evidence that the entity remains
committed to its plan to sell the disposal group and has taken all reasonable steps to
resolve the delay.

Disclosure of activities

Disclosure in the year of disposal

The financial statements should disclose* the following:

(a) a single amount on the face of the income statement comprising the total of:
(i) the post-tax profit or loss of discontinued operations; and
(i1) the post-tax gain or loss recognised on the measurement to fair value less cost
to sell or on the disposal of the assets or disposal group(s) constituting the
discontinued operation.

(b) an analysis of the single amount in (a) into:

(i) the revenue, expenses and pre-tax profit or loss of discontinued operations;

(ii) the related income tax expense as required by TAS 12;

(iii) the gain or loss recognised on the measurement to fair value less costs to sell or
on the disposal of the assets or disposal group(s) constituting the discontinued
operation; and

(iv) the related income tax expense as required by TAS 12.

(c) the net cash flows attributable to the operating, investing and financing activities of
discontinued operations.
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Figure 3.6 Extract from the notes of Barlow Ltd

Note |2 Discontinued Operations

During the year certain distinguishable business operations of the group were discontinued. The following

information relates thereto:

1999 1998
Loss on discontinuance [since date of discontinuance and
shown as an exceptional item in note 6]
Gross loss on discontinuance (105) (487)
Taxation ) _ 1o
_(96) 477
Aggregate summarised balance sheets
Assets remaining at year end 403 [,189
Liabilities remaining at year end 159 295
The results of discontinued operations arising prior to the effective date of
discontinuance and included in the income statement as being from ordinary
operations are:
Revenue 1,834
Loss before taxation (51
Taxation credit 27
Loss after taxation (24)
Outside shareholders’ interest 7
Attributable loss to ordinary shareholders (7
Discontinued operation Segment Date of Method of
discontinuance discontinuance
Federated Blakie Building material 30 June 1998 Sale
Barlow Paper Paper 31 July 1998 Sale
Eurofilters Paper 31 July 1998 Sale
Bartons Precision Tube Steel tube | October 1998 Sale
Princetown (Pty) Ltd Handling | October 1998 Sale

The disclosures required by (b) and (c) may be given in the notes to the accounts.

If the criteria for defining as held for sale are met after the balance sheet date but
before the authorisation of the financial statements for issue, disclosures are also required

in the notes.

Disclosures in subsequent years

Any adjustments made in the current period to amounts previously presented in
discontinued operations are required to be classified separately in discontinued opera-

tions. Such adjustments may arise as a result of:

(a) the resolution of uncertainties arising subsequent to the disposal, e.g. adjustments to

the purchase price;
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(b) the resolution of uncertainties existing prior to the disposal, e.g. environmental and
product warranty obligations retained by the seller;

(c) the settlement of employee benefit plan obligations directly related to the disposal
transaction.

An example of the type of disclosure for discontinued operations can be seen in
Figure 3.6.

3.13 Items requiring separate disclosure

When making their future predictions investors need to be able to identify that part of
the net income that is likely to be maintained in the future. IAS 1 Presentation of
Financial Statements provides assistance to users in this by requiring that certain
items are separately disclosed. These are items within the ordinary activities of the
enterprise which are of such size, nature or incidence that their separate disclosure is
required in the financial statements in order for the financial statements to show a true
and fair view.

These items are not extraordinary and must therefore be presented within the profit
from ordinary activities. It is usual to disclose the nature and amount of these items in
a note to the financial statements, with no separate mention on the face of the income
statement; however, if sufficiently material, they can be disclosed on the face.

Examples of the type of items’ that may give rise to separate disclosures are:

the write-down of assets to realisable value or recoverable amount;

the restructuring of activities of the enterprise, and the reversal of provisions for
restructuring;

disposals of items of property, plant and equipment;
disposals of long-term investments;
discontinued operations;

litigation settlements;

other reversals of provisions.

3.14 The prescribed formats — the balance sheet

3.14.1

We now explain the prescribed formats for balance sheet presentation, the accounting
rules that govern the values at which the various assets are included in the balance sheet
and the explanatory notes that are required to accompany the balance sheet.

The prescribed format

TAS 1 specifies which items are to be included on the face of the balance sheet but it
does not prescribe the order and presentation that is to be followed. It would be
acceptable to present the balance sheet as assets less liabilities equalling equity, or total
assets equalling total equity and liabilities. The example given in IAS 1 follows the
approach of total assets equalling total equity and liabilities.
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3.14.2

The information that must be presented on the face is:

(a) Property, plant and equipment;

(b) Investment property;

(c) Intangible assets;

(d) Financial assets (excluding amounts shown under (e), (h) and (1)),
(e) Investments accounted for using the equity method,

(f) Biological assets;

(g) Inventories;

(h) Trade and other receivables;

(i) Cash and cash equivalents;

(j) Trade and other payables;

(k) Provisions;

(1) Financial liabilities (excluding amounts shown under (j) and (k));
(m) Liabilities and assets for current tax, as defined in IAS 12 Income Tawxes;
(n) Deferred tax liabilities and deferred tax assets, as defined in TAS 12;
(o) Minority interests, presented within equity; and

(p) Issued capital and reserves attributable to equity holders of the parent.

Additional line items may need to be presented if required by another TAS.

TAS 1 does not absolutely prescribe that enterprises need to split assets and liabilities
into current and non-current. However, it does state that this split would need to be done
if the nature of the business indicates that it is appropriate. In almost all cases it would
be appropriate to split items into current and non-current. If an enterprise decides that
it is more relevant and reliable not to split the assets and liabilities into current and non-
current on the face of the balance sheet, they should be presented broadly in order of
their liquidity.

If a liquidity presentation is used, the enterprise must still indicate the amount of all
items that is payable or recoverable after more than twelve months.®

The accounting rules for asset valuation

International standards provide different valuation rules and some choice exists as to
which rules to use. Many of the items in the financial statements are held at historical
cost, but variations to this principle may be required by different accounting standards.
Some of the different bases are:

Property, plant and equipment Can be presented at either historical cost or
market value depending upon accounting policy

chosen from IAS 16.7

Financial assets Certain classes of financial asset are required to
be recognised at fair value per IAS 39.8

Inventory IAS 2 requires that this is included at the lower
of cost and net realisable value.’

Provisions TAS 37 requires the discounting to present value
of some provisions.!
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3.14.3 What are the explanatory notes that accompany a balance sheet?

We will consider four types. These are (a) notes giving greater detail of the make-up of
items that appear in the balance sheet, (b) notes providing additional information, (c)
notes drawing attention to the existence of related party transactions and (d) notes giving
information of interest to other stakeholders.

Notes giving greater detail of the make-up of balance sheet figures

Each of the alpha headings may have additional detail disclosed by way of a note to the
accounts. Some items may have a note of their detailed make-up. For example, inventory
of £38.6m in the balance sheet may have a note as follows:

Lm

Raw materials 11.2
Work-in-progress 1.5
Finished goods 259
38.6

Property, plant and equipment normally has a schedule as shown in Figure 3.7. From
this the net book value is read off the total column for inclusion in the balance sheet.

Notes giving additional information

These are notes intended to assist in predicting future cash flows. They give information
on matters such as capital commitments that have been contracted for but not provided
in the accounts, and capital commitments that have been authorised but not contracted
for; future commitments, e.g. share options that have been granted; and contingent
liabilities, e.g. guarantees given by the company in respect of overdraft facilities arranged
by subsidiary companies or customers.

Notes drawing attention to existence of related party transactions

Related party relationships may mean that financial statements include transactions that
have not been entered into on an arm’s-length basis, which would be the normal
assumption made by a user. The objective of TAS 24 Related Party Disclosures was to
ensure that disclosure drew attention to the fact that the reported financial position and
results may have been affected by the existence of related parties and material transactions
with them. Disclosure is required of the person controlling the reporting entity and of
related party transactions such as purchase or sale of goods, property or other assets;
rendering or receiving services; agency arrangements; leasing arrangements; transfer of
research and development; licence agreements; provision of finance and management
contracts.

TAS 24 defines such a related party relationship as existing where one party has direct
or indirect control of the other party, or the parties are subject to common control, or
one party has such influence over the financial and operating policies of the other party
that the other party might be inhibited from pursuing its own separate interests, or the
parties entering into a transaction are subject to such influence from the same source that
one party has subordinated its own separate interests.

Although related parties include companies in the same group and associated
companies, these are subject to specific IASs, e.g. IAS 22, TAS 27 and IAS 28. The
principal impact will, therefore, be on directors and their close families, pension funds,
key management and those controlling 20% or more of the voting rights.
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Figure 3.7 Nestlé Group - property, plant and equipment movements

Property, plant and equipment
In millions of CHF

2003 2002
Tools,
Machinery furniture
Land and and and other
buildings equipment  equipment Vehicles Total Total

Gross value
At | January [1,534 22,320 6,177 766 40,797 45,093
Currency retranslation and

inflation adjustment (167) (253) 47) (24) (491) (5,560)
Expenditure 695 1,824 709 109 3,337 3577
Disposals (184) (1,137) (597) (92) (2,010) 411
Modification of the scope of

consolidation 12 62 54 |7 145 98
At 31 December 11,890 22,816 6,296 776 41,778 40,797
Accumulated depreciation
At | January (4,520) (14,462) (4,333) (457) (23,772) (25,195)
Currency retranslation and

inflation adjustment | I5 40 I5 71 3053
Depreciation 351) (1,232) (726) (99) (2,408) (2,542)
Impairment (87) (48) (12) (h (148) (1,316)
Disposals 78 1,023 588 67 1,756 2,040
Modification of the scope of

consolidation 69 10 (13) %) 162 188
At 31 December (4,810) (14,594) (4,456) (479) (24,339) (23,772)
Net at 3| December 7,080 8222 1,840 297 17,439 17,025

Notes giving information that is of interest to other stakeholders

We could place the disclosure relating to staft into this category. It is common for
enterprises to provide a disclosure of the average number of employees in the period or
the number of employees at the end of the period. IAS 1 does not require businesses
to provide and categorise this information but it is likely that most businesses would
categorise the information. The categories could follow the primary segments as in IAS
14, or could follow functions in the business such as production, sales, administration,
etc. Suggested forms of presentation are shown in Figure 3.8.

This information is useful in the context of reporting to employees. However, there is
no standard form of presenting it, and it is not completely adequate for the prediction of
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Figure 3.8 Staff costs

Operating profit is stated after charging:
Staff costs £3xx

The average number of employees during the period was as follows:

Number employed

Production XXX
Distribution XXX
Sales XXX
Research and development XXX
Administration XXX

This shows categorisation by function. Also acceptable would be categorisation by business or

geographical segment, or no categorisation at all.

cash flows. Staff cost information is not analysed into the expense headings that are used
in the income statement so, although the total cost is given, this is not necessarily broken
down into cost of sales, distribution costs and administrative expenses.

3.15 Statement of changes in equity

3.15.1

A primary statement called ‘statement of changes in equity’ should be presented!! with
the same prominence as the other primary statements. The components should be the
gains and losses that are recognised in the period in so far as they are attributable to
shareholders. This will take the profit for the year and adjust it for unrealised gains and
losses, currency translation differences and prior period adjustments (see Figure 3.9).

When TAS 1 had a major revision in 1997 it placed greater emphasis on the
components of income rather than the bottom line. The statement was introduced largely
to put the reporting of financial performance on the all-inclusive basis favoured by users,
who were concerned that gains and losses were sometimes masked or obscured by reserve
accounting, which permits items to bypass the income statement. Not all items in Figure
3.9 will of course always appear for every company.

Figure 3.10 shows an alternative presentation that can be adopted. Instead of showing
the statements of changes in equity, enterprises may show a statement of recognised
income and expense. The items to be included in both statements are the same and no
particular benefits arise from producing one as opposed to the other.

If this format is followed the reconciliation of opening and closing balances of share
capital, reserves and accumulated profit is given in the notes to the financial statements.

Why have a statement of changes in equity?

The reason for the statement is that a number of gains and losses are either permitted
or required by law or accounting standards to be dealt with directly through reserves.
This means that financial statements would be incomplete if they stopped at the retained
profit for the year figure without giving the shareholders information about other changes
in their equity. The statement includes all gains and losses for the period and not just
those that have passed through the income statement.
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Figure 3.9 lllustration of the statement of changes in equity

Format | — Statement of changes in equity for the year ended 31 December 20X2

Attributable to equity holders of the parent

Share Other Trans- Retained  Total Minority Total

capital  reserves lation earnings interest equity
reserve
Balance at 3| December 20XI X X x) X X X X
Changes in accounting policy (x) (x) (x) (x)
Restated balance X X (%) X X X X
Changes in equity for 20XI
Gains on property revaluation X X X X

Available for sale investments:
Valuation gains/(losses) taken
to equity (%) (%) (x)
Transferred to profit or loss
on sale (x) (x) (x)

Cash flow hedges:
Gains/(losses) taken to equity X X X X
Transferred to profit or loss
for the period X X X X
Transferred to initial carrying
amount of hedged items (x) (x) (x)

Exchange differences on translating
foreign operations x) %) (x) (x)

Tax on items taken directly to or

transferred from equity () X ) ) &)

Net income recognised directly
in equity X (x)
Profit for the period X

Total recognised income and

expense for the period X (x) X X X X
Dividends () () () ()
Issue of share capital X
Equity share options issued X

Balance at 31 December 20X2

carried forward X X X X X X X
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Figure 3.10 lllustration of statement of recognised income and expense

Format 2 — Statement of recognised income and expense for the year ended 3| December 20X2

20X2 20X1
Gain/(loss) on revaluation of properties (x) X
Available for sale investments:
Valuation gains/(losses) taken to equity (%) (x)
Transferred to profit or loss on sale X (x)
Cash flow hedges:
Gains/(losses) taken to equity X X
Transferred to profit or loss for the period x) X
Transferred to the initial carrying amount of hedged items (x) x)
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations (x) (x)
Tax on items taken directly to or transferred from equity X (x)
Net income recognised directly in equity (x) X
Profit for the period X X
Total recognised income and expense for the period X X
Attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent X
Minority interest
X X
Effect of changes in accounting policy:
Equity holders of the parent (x)
Minority interest ()
X)

3.16 Reporting comprehensive income

The IASB in association with the ASB (UK Accounting Standards Board) is undertaking
a project to examine the way that income and expenses are reported. This project is
ongoing and this summary highlights the position it has reached at the time of writing
(March 2005).

The TASB felt that a review of income reporting was required to address a number of
problems that had arisen with the current income statement used by businesses. The
main problems include:

® The IFRSs do not currently define all the items that companies include within
income statements, and this leads to inconsistent presentation. For example operating
income is commonly referred to even though it is not defined in the accounting
standards.

@ Different companies use different measures of earnings, e.g. ‘core earnings’, or ‘earnings
before exceptional items’, and this leads to non-comparability between companies.
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® The income statement includes a variety of items that could be more clearly presented.
Simply listing income and expenses could imply a similarity of items that is not really
justified.

® There is no conceptual justification for having some items reported in the income
statement and others reported in equity.

Because of these problems a new comprehensive income statement is proposed that will
present all items of income and expense more clearly and therefore present performance
to the user of the accounts in a better fashion.

Figure 3.11 Comprehensive income following a matrix approach
Total Before Remeasurements
remeasurements

Revenue 000 1000 —
Write-down of accounts receivable (10) — (10)
Cost of sales (400) (340) (60)
Selling, general, admin. 250 (200) (50)
Operating profit 340
Disposal gain/loss 100 — 100
PPE revaluation 150 — 150
Investment property — = —
Goodwill (100) — (100)
Foreign exchange gain/loss on net

investment (50) — (50)
Other business profit 100
Income from associates 50 50 —
Equity investments (60) — (60)
Debt investments 20 5 I5
Pension assets (150) — (150)
Financial income (140)
Business profit 300
Interest on liabilities (80) (120) 40
Pension financing expenses (120) (200) 80
Financing expense (200)
Tax (30) — —
Discontinued operations (10) (5) (5)
Cash flow hedges 50 — 50

Comprehensive income 110
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3.16.1 The proposed format

The new format follows a ‘matrix structure’, as shown in Figure 3.11, designed to
highlight not only income and expense from different business functions (e.g. operating
or financing) but also the type of gain or loss, remeasurement or not. This distinction is
important as the IASB believes that the remeasurements column allows this statement to
recognise all aspects of income and expense clearly.

A summary of the remeasurements required by existing TASs/IFRSs is shown in
Figure 3.12.

Figure 3.12 Remeasurements required by IASs/IFRSs

Standard Title Required remeasurements
IAS 2 Inventories Write-downs
IAS |1 Construction Contracts Changes in provisions for future losses, in accordance
with |AS 37 on provisions
IAS 16 Property, Plant and Revaluations
Equipment Gains and losses on retirements or disposals
IAS 19 Employee Benefits Actuarial gains and losses, settlements and curtailments
IAS 21 The Effects of Changes in Exchange differences on monetary items
Foreign Exchange Rates Exchange differences on net investment in foreign
operations
IAS 29 Financial Reporting in Gain or loss on net monetary position
Hyperinflationary Economies
IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Increases in existing provisions
Liabilities and Unused amounts reversed in the period
Contingent Assets Reversal of discounting
IAS 38 Intangible Assets Revaluations
Gains or losses arising from retirement or disposal
IAS 39 Financial Instruments: All income and expenses except those recognised as
Recognition and interest
Measurement
IAS 40 Investment Property Gains and losses arising from changes in fair value
Gains and losses arising from retirement or disposal
IAS 41 Agriculture Income or expenses reported separately as price
changes
IFRS 5 Non-Current Assets Held Requirements for remeasurement are as for continuing

for Sale and Discontinued
Operations

operations

3.16.2 US comprehensive income reporting

In the USA the Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 130 (SFAS 130) 1997,
Reporting Comprehensive Income, requires the disclosure of both net income and other
comprehensive income (OCI). The OCI statement includes four adjustments, being for
unrealised gains and losses on marketable securities, foreign currency translation
adjustments, minimum required pension liability adjustments and changes in the market
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3.16.3

values of certain future contracts used as hedges. The following is an extract from the
Annual Report 2003 of Vossloh AG showing in the balance sheet:

12/31/2002 12/31/2003
€ million € million
Group earnings 52.4 55.0
Accumulated other comprehensive income (OCI) 4.5) (5.6)
With a supporting note:
Development of Currency Pension Fair values of Total
accumulated OCI translation accruals  derivative instruments
differences and securities

Balance at Dec 31, 2001 (2.4) (1.4) (1.5) (5.3)
Change 2.3 (0.3) (1.2) 0.8
Balance at Dec 31, 2002 (0.1) (1.7) (2.7) (4.5)
Change (1.3) 0.1 0.1 (1.1)
Balance at Dec 31, 2003 (1.4) (1.6) (2.6) (5.6)

Why have both a net income and a net income adjusted for OCI?

Some commentators'? argue that there is no decision-usefulness in providing the
comprehensive net income figure for investors whereas others' take the opposite view.
Intuitively, one might take a view that investors are interested in the total movement in
equity regardless of the cause, which would lead to support for the comprehensive income
figure. However, given that there is this difference of opinion and research findings, this
would seem to be an area open to further empirical research to further test the decision-
usefulness of each measure to analysts.

Whilst acknowledging the particular interest of analysts in obtaining an income
measure that best predicts future cash flows for investment purposes, there is a growing
interest among stakeholders in the income measure that is decision-useful when setting
compensation plans for directors with the possibility that net income might be more
controllable by the directors and therefore a more appropriate measure.

3.17 Segment reporting

The objective of segment reporting is to assist users of accounts to evaluate the different
business segments and geographical regions of a group and how they affect the overall
results of that group. IAS 14 sets out how these different segments should be defined
and the information which should be disclosed.

TAS 14 gives guidance!* on the sorts of factors that directors should take into account
when defining segments, e.g. the nature of the products or services, or how the group’s
activities are organised. These factors help to determine whether a segment is
distinguishable, but it must also be a significant segment to require disclosure and a
significance test’® will measure if any of the turnover, results or assets account for more
than 10% of the group’s total.
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3.18 The fundamental accounting principles underlying the published
income statement and balance sheet

TAS 1 (paras 23-31) requires compliance with the fundamental accounting principles of
accruals, materiality and aggregation, going concern and consistency of presentation.

A concept not specifically stated in IAS 1 is prudence, which is an important principle
in the preparation of financial statements. The Framemwork states that reliable information
in the financial statements must be prudent'® and this implies that a degree of caution
should be exercised in making judgements or estimates. Prudence does not allow the
making of excessive or unnecessary provisions that would deliberately understate net
assets and therefore render the financial statements unreliable.

3.19 Disclosure of accounting policies

3.19.1

The accounting policies adopted can make a significant difference to the financial
statements, e.g. valuing contracts using the percentage completion method or completed
method. It is important for investors to be aware of the policies and to be confident that
management will not change them on an ad hoc basis to influence the results. IAS 1
(para. 8) therefore requires a company to state the accounting policies adopted by the
company in determining the amounts shown in the income statement and balance sheet
of the company and to apply them consistently.

What is the difference between accounting principles, accounting
bases and accounting policies?

Accounting principles

All companies are required to comply with the broad accounting principles of going
concern, consistency, accrual accounting, materiality and aggregation. If they fail to
comply, they must disclose, quantify and justify the departure from the principle.

Accounting bases

These are the methods that have been developed for applying the accounting principles.
They are intended to restrict the subjectivity by identifying a range of acceptable
methods. For example, assets may be valued according to the historical cost convention
or the alternative accounting rules. Bases have been established for a number of assets,
e.g. goodwill, depreciation, consolidation methods.

Accounting policies

Accounting policies are chosen by a company as being the most appropriate to the
company’s circumstances and best able to produce a true and fair view. They typically
disclose the accounting policies followed for the basis of accounting, i.e. historical or
alternative accounting rules, and asset valuation, e.g. of inventory, stating whether it uses
FIFO or other methods; property, plant and equipment, stating whether depreciation is
by the straight-line or other methods; and borrowing costs, stating whether they have
been capitalised or not. An example from the accounts of the Nestlé group is shown in
Figure 3.13.
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3.19.2

3.19.3

Figure 3.13 Extracts from the financial statements of the Nestlé Group

Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment are shown in the balance sheet at their historical cost.
Depreciation is provided on the straight-line method so as to depreciate the initial cost over
the estimated useful lives, which are as follows:

Buildings 25-50 years
Machinery and equipment 015 years
Tools, furniture, information technology and sundry equipment 3-8 years
Vehicles 5 years

Financing costs incurred during the course of construction are expensed. Land is not
depreciated. Premiums capitalised for leasehold land and buildings are amortised over the
length of the lease.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is allocated to the appropriate heading of

expenses by function in the income statement.

Research and development
Research and development costs are charged to the income statement in the year in which
they are incurred.

Development costs related to new products are not capitalised because the assured availability
of future economic benefits is evident only once the products are in the market place.

How do users know the effect of changes in accounting policy?

TAS 1 requires accounting policies to be applied consistently from one financial period to
another. It is only permissible to change an accounting policy if the directors consider
that there are special reasons for a change. When a change occurs IAS 8§ requires:

® the comparative figures of the previous financial period to be amended if possible;

@ the disclosure of the reason for the change, the effect of the adjustment in the income
statement of the period and the effect on all other periods presented with the current
period financial statements.

This has significantly reduced the opportunity for management to confuse users when
making accounting changes with the effect on both the previous year and the current year
being disclosed.

IFRS | First-Time Adoption of International Financial Reporting
Standards

One issue that will involve significant changes in accounting policy and have
corresponding disclosure issues is the rules on first-time adoption of IFRS. Many
companies are starting to transfer their financial statements from a previous GAAP into
IFRS and are therefore having to restate those accounts. IFRS 1 addresses the issues in
doing this conversion.
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The TASB issued IFRS 1 Firsi-Time Adoption of International Financial Reporting
Standards on 19 June 2003. The IFRS applies to an entity’s first IFRS accounts, and all
interim financial statements presented under IAS 34 Interim Financial Reporting for part
of the period covered by its first IFRS accounts.

Transition to IFRSs involves a number of different activities:

selecting accounting policies that comply with IFRSs;
2 preparing an opening balance sheet at the date of transition to IFRSs;

making estimates under IFRSs for both the opening IFRS balance sheet and other
periods presented;

4 disclosures in the first IFRS accounts.

This overview shows the key activities involved in the project to convert to IFRSs.
The most difficult aspect of this conversion is the selection of accounting policies to
comply with IFRSs. The international accounting standards give policy choices in some
areas, and also further choices must be made by businesses when they produce their first
IFRS financial statements.

Accounting policies

Accounting policies in line with IFRSs effective at an entity’s first IFRS reporting
date should be used for opening, comparative and reporting date balance sheets (full
retrospective application). Some exceptions to this are noted below.

This means that all accounting standards applicable at an entity’s first IFRS accounting
date (e.g. 31 December 2005) will have to be followed from the opening balance sheet
date of the compactive period (e.g. at 1 January 2004).

Exemptions from full retrospective application
Certain exemptions are permitted to avoid excessive costs but are not required. These
exemptions are optional except for the derecognition and hedging rules for financial
instruments.

They concern:

® Property, plant and equipment

® Business combinations

® Defined benefit pension funds

® Cumulative translation differences
® Financial instruments.

Property, plant and equipment
The IFRS gives examples of where it may be difficult for entities to establish the historic
cost of previously revalued assets and permits previous revaluations to be carried forward
as deemed cost if this approximates to fair value.

This applies to entities whose previous GAAP allowed assets to be recorded at a ‘frozen’
revalued amount. If the frozen revaluations are comparable to fair value at the date of the
revaluation, then they may be carried forward as deemed cost when adopting IFRSs.

Business combinations
An entity need not apply IFRS 3 Business Combinations retrospectively to business
combinations recognised under previous GAAP.
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However, the entity may apply IFRSs retrospectively if it wishes. If it restates any
business combination, it must restate all subsequent business combinations as well. For
example, if a first-time adopter decides to restate a business combination that occurred
on 30 June 2002, it must restate all business combinations that occurred on or after
30 June 2002.

For business combinations which are not restated, some adjustments will still be
required, the main one concerning goodwill. Any goodwill on the balance sheet at the
transition date (start of the earliest IFRS comparative period) should, if positive, be
frozen and subject to annual impairment reviews, and, if negative, be written back to
retained earnings.

Defined benefit pension funds
At the transition date recognise all actuarial gains or losses and only spread any that arise
after the transition date.

Cumulative translation differences

Cumulative exchange differences on foreign entities should be presented under IFRS
rules as a separate reserve. On transition it is acceptable not to separate historic amounts
from retained earnings, and only to separate exchange differences arising after the tran-
sition date. This would also mean that the exchange differences would not be recycled
on the disposal of the foreign entity.

Financial instruments
The transitional rules for financial instruments are very complex; however, the main
exemptions are as follows:

® IAS 39’s derecogition rules are only applied to items that have occurred after 1 January
2004. This means that if a business had entered into some sort of off balance sheet
finance scheme before that date it would not need to assess it under IAS 39, and the
existing treatment can continue. Anything entered into after that date, however, will
need to be assessed according to IAS 39’s criteria.

® On transition to IFRS all derivatives must be recognised on the balance sheet. If a
derivative is designated as a fair value hedge at transition the corresponding entry is
to retained earnings, and the hedged item is also recognised at fair value with an
adjustment to retained earnings. If a derivative is designated as a cash flow hedge then
the corresponding entry is to a separate reserve in equity.

® For 2005 adopters it will not be necessary to apply IAS 32 and IAS 39 in the
comparative financial statements. Instead a company will be able to produce a
reconciliation of the position at the end of the comparative year (without IAS 32/39)
to the beginning of the first reporting year (following IAS 32/39). This option is only
available to 2005 adopters.

Opening IFRS balance sheet at transition date

This should be restated using recognition and measurement criteria in IFRSs. This
means that the entity will potentially need to:

® recognise all assets and liabilities required by TFRSs;

@ cease to recognise some assets and liabilities that cannot be recognised per IFRSs;
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@ reclassify items as different types of assets, liabilities and equity under TFRSs;

® apply IFRSs in measuring recognised assets and liabilities.
Any adjustment to the opening net assets should be recognised against retained earnings.

Estimates

Estimates should be consistent with estimates made at the same date under previous
GAAP (after any adjustments to reflect difference in accounting policies) unless there is
objective evidence that estimates were in error.

This does not prohibit new estimates being made as required by IFRSs, e.g. where no
amount was recognised under previous GAAP.

Disclosure

Disclosure requirements of all effective IFRSs at the reporting date must be followed.
Disclosure is required of how transition from previous GAAP to IFRS has affected
financial position, financial performance and cash flows. This requires:

@ reconciliation of entity’s equity under previous GAAP to IFRS for
— date of transition to IFRSs and

— end of last period presented in the most recent financial statements under previous

GAAP;

@ reconciliation of the profit or loss reported under previous GAAP to IFRSs for latest
period presented under previous GAAP.

Examples of the reconciliations are provided in the implementation guidance for IFRS 1.

Effect of IFRS on individual companies

The effect is still uncertain and will depend on the industry, e.g. companies with large
property portfolios will be able to account for increased property values as profits, and
on the nature of their liabilities, e.g. companies with share schemes and employee bene-
fits obligations may be adversely affected. The effects will therefore vary with some com-
panies like AstraZeneca reporting minor differences on converting from UK GAAP to
IFRS and others like Shell who advise that it will take almost $5bn off the company’s
opening balance sheet as of 1 January 2004. An important consideration for investors will
be the potential economic impact and Shell addressed this in stressing that converting
would have no impact on strategy, financial framework or cash flow.

Differences between IFRS and national standards

This will vary according to the accounting principles followed by individual countries.
The following extract from the 2003 Annual Report of Palfinger AG is an example:

Main differences between IFRS and Austrian Accounting Standards

Different principles

The goals of IFRS and IAS are exclusively international compared with Austrian
accounting provisions. The dominant aim of the IFRS and IAS is to provide
investors with the business-oriented information required in decision-making
processes, whereas Austrian accounting standards are based on the principle of
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prudence and are directed at the protection of creditors. Thus, higher significance is
placed on comparability of financial statements under the IFRS than under Austrian
commercial law.

3.20 Fair view treatment

3.20.1 1AS | provisions

IAS 1 requires financial statements to give a fair presentation of the financial position,
financial performance and cash flows of an enterprise.!” In para. 15 it states that:

In virtually all circumstances, a fair presentation is achieved by compliance with
applicable IFRSs. A fair presentation also requires an entity:

(@)

(b)

(c)

to select and apply accounting policies in accordance with TAS 8 Accounting
Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors. IAS 8 sets out a hierarchy of
authoritative guidance that management considers in the absence of a Standard
or an Interpretation that specifically applies to an item;

to present information, including accounting policies, in a manner that provides
relevant, reliable, comparable and understandable information;

to provide additional disclosures when compliance with the specific requirements
in IFRSs is insufficient to enable users to understand the impact of particular
transactions, other events and conditions on the entity’s financial position and
financial performance.

3.20.2 The Framework provisions

3.20.3

The Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements considers' that
a fair presentation would mean that the financial statements must show a true and fair

view.

Legal opinions

True and fair is a legal concept and can be authoritatively decided only by a court.
However, the courts have never attempted to define ‘true and fair’. In the UK the
Accounting Standards Committee (ASC) obtained a legal opinion which included the
following statement:

It is, however, important to observe that the application of the concept involves:

® Judgement in questions of degree. The information contained in the

accounts must be accurate and comprehensive to within acceptable limits. What
is acceptable and how is this to be achieved?

® Reasonable businessmen and accountants may differ over the degree of

accuracy or comprehensiveness which in particular cases the accounts should
attain.

® Equally, there may sometimes be room for differences over the method to

adopt in order to give a true and fair view, cases in which there may be more
than one true and fair view of the same financial position.



3.20.4

Published accounts of companies * 77

@® Again, because true and fair involves questions of degree, we think that cost
effectiveness must play a part in deciding the amount of information which
is sufficient to make accounts true and fair.

® Accounts will not be true and fair unless the information they contain is
sufficient in quantity and quality to satisfy the reasonable expectations
of the readers to whom they are addressed."

A further counsel’s opinion was obtained by the Accounting Standards Board (ASB) in
1991% and published in its Foreword to Accounting Standards. It advised that accounting
standards are an authoritative source of accounting practice and it is now the norm for
financial statements to comply with them. In consequence the court may take accounting
standards into consideration when forming an opinion on whether the financial statements
give a true and fair view.

Fair override

TAS 1 recognises that there may be occasions when application of an IAS might be
misleading and departure from TAS treatment is permitted. This is referred to as the fair
override provision. If a company makes use of the override it is required to explain why
compliance with IASs would be misleading and also give sufficient information to enable
the user to calculate the adjustments required to comply with the standard.

The true and fair concept is familiar to the UK and Netherlands accounting
professions. Many countries, however, view the concept of the true and fair view with
suspicion since it runs counter to their legal systems. In Germany the fair override
provision has not been directly implemented and laws are interpreted according to their
function and objectives. It appears that the role of true and fair in the European context
is to act as a protection against over-regulation. Since the wider acceptance of IASs
in recent years, the financial statements of many more companies and countries are
fulfilling the principle of a true and fair view.

When might entities use the fair override?

It can occur for a number of reasons:?!

1 Accounting standards may prescribe one method, which contradicts the statutory
requirement and thus requires an override, e.g. in the UK, providing no depreciation
on investment properties.

2 Accounting standards may offer a choice between accounting procedures, at least one of
which contradicts the statutory requirement. If that choice is adopted, the override should
be invoked, e.g. grants and contributions should not be shown as deferred income.

An example of this is shown in the following extract from the 2004 Annual Report
of Severn Trent Water Ltd:

Grants and contributions
Grants and contributions received in respect of non-infrastructure assets are treated
as deferred income and are recognised in the profit and loss account over the useful
economic life of those assets.

In accordance with industry practice, grants and contributions relating to
infrastructure assets have been deducted from the cost of fixed assets.
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This is not in accordance with Schedule 4 to the Act, which requires assets to be
shown at their purchase price or production cost and hence grants and contributions
to be presented as deferred income. This departure from the requirements of the Act
is, in the opinion of the Directors, necessary to give a true and fair view as, while a
provision is made for depreciation of infrastructure assets, these assets do not have
determinable finite lives and therefore no basis exists on which to recognise grants
and contributions as deferred income. The effect of this departure is that the cost of
fixed assets is £362.6 million lower than it would otherwise have been (2003: £327.0
million).

Those grants and contributions relating to the maintenance of the operating
capability of the infrastructure network are taken into account in determining the
depreciation charged for infrastructure assets.

3 Accounting standards may allow some choice but prefer a particular method which is
consistent with the statutory requirement but the alternative may not be consistent
e.g. not amortising goodwill (prior to IAS requirement for impairment review).

4 There may be a statutory requirement but no accounting standard. Failure to comply
with the statute would require an override, e.g. current assets being reported at market
value rather than at cost.

. . which is overri .
5 There may be an accounting standards requirement which is overridden, e.g. not
providing depreciation on non-current assets.

3.21 Additional information in the annual report

3.21.1

Legislation such as the Companies Act 1985 in the UK requires that additional
information is included in the annual report such as a directors’ report. As well as
statutory information many companies choose to give additional information such as
operating and financial reviews, chairperson’s statements or business summaries. Around
the world the names and formats of the additional information do vary, but the actual
information included is often of a similar nature.

Information appearing in board or directors’ reports

The typical type of information that appears in board or directors’ reports might be as
follows:

@® Information about the business activities which includes:
— details about principal activities during the year and any significant changes;

— a fair review of the development of the business of the company during the year and
of its position at the end of the year,”> e.g. comment on the development of new
markets, comment on any significant rationalisation involving discontinuing
segments of the business, etc;

— likely future developments;
— research and development activity undertaken during the year;
— significant changes in the fixed assets of the company during the year;

— any important events affecting the company which have occurred since the end of
the financial year.



3.21.2

Published accounts of companies * 79

® Information allowing shareholders to assess asset backing which includes:

— a note of the amount if the market value of land and buildings differs materially
from the book values (this gives sharcholders a view of the asset backing in
determining the value of their shares).

® Information making shareholders aware of material movements in the ownership of the
issued share capital which includes:

— share interests that exceed 3% of the nominal capital of the company (3% is UK
disclosure guidance); the purchase of own shares; shares of the company in which
directors have an interest.

® Information indicating the company’s activities in the community which includes:

— political and charitable donations; policy in respect of applications for employment
by disabled applicants; actions taken in respect of employee reports and consultation.

The information in the report requires a number of judgements to be made, e.g. a fair
review, significant changes and any important events. Because it involves judgement and
opinion (which is not easily verified), the directors’ report is not usually audited but may
be reviewed by the auditor to ensure it does not conflict with the financial data.

What does a directors’ report look like?

The paragraph headings from Findel plc’s 2002 annual report are set out in Figure 3.14
as an illustration of the type of information contained in a published set of accounts. The
extract in Figure 3.15 indicates the culture of a company in respect of employee and

Figure 3.14 Directors’ report headings

Activities

Review of the Year and Future Prospects
Acquisition of Novara plc
Dividends

Share Capital

Supplier Payment Policy
Directors

Employees

Donations

Substantial Shareholdings
Auditors

Figure 3.15 Extracts from Findel plc 2002 Directors’ Report

Activities
The principal activities of the group are home shopping and educational supplies sales through

mail order and the provision of online and logistics services to third parties.

Review of the Year and Future Prospects
A review of the group's activities and its future prospects is contained in the Chairman's
Statement on pages 2 to 3.
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3.21.3

Figure 3.15 (cont.)

Employees
The company recognises its social and statutory duty to employ disabled persons and pursues a
policy of providing, wherever possible, the same employment opportunities to disabled persons

as to others.

Information to employees regarding the company and factors affecting its performance and that

of its subsidiaries is provided through normal management channels and regular consultation.

Donations
During the year the group made charitable donations of £72,000 (£75,000). There were no

donations for political purposes.

commercial issues, and illustrates how the report has become almost an index for other
sources of financial information. Findel plc is a UK group and therefore the report
follows UK requirements.

The Chairman’s Statement

The directors’ report was supported by a statement from the Chairman. A brief extract
from Findel plc’s 2002 annual report illustrates the type of information provided.

Home Shopping

Our home shopping division has continued to build successfully. Sales have grown
strongly again this year, rising to £136.9m (£113.9m), a 20% increase. Operating
profit improved by 45% to £20.9m (£14.4m).

Customer recruitment has outstripped even last year’s record performance, with
the customer base rising from 964,000 to more than 1.3m customers, a 35% increase.

The formula we have developed of offering seasonally appropriate merchandise
competitively priced, coupled with the availability of monthly credit, is proving
increasingly successful. Whilst sales of our traditional core Christmas ranges grew by
25%, sales of kitchen, audio visual, household and furniture goods increased by 42%
and now account for 31% of all sales.

The importance of financial services to the division becomes more apparent each
year. It has had another record year. Whilst bad debt remains firmly under control,
income from credit and payment protection plans increased during the year by 73%.
With the additional financial products planned, we expect its performance to
continue to improve ...

3.22 What information do companies provide to assist comparison
between companies reporting under different reporting regimes?

Companies may provide reconciliation statements between their national standards and
either US or TASC standards. The following statement shows the type of reconciliations
necessary for listing purposes in some countries. These reconciliations highlight and
explain the different accounting treatments that can be adopted and the impact on the
figures in the financial statements. They are taken from Nokia reconciling ITFRS
requirements to US GAAP.
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The principal differences between IAS and US GAAP are presented below.

Reconciliation of net income

2003 2002 2001
€m €m €m
Net income reported under TAS 3,592 3,381 2,200
US GAAP adjustments:
Pension expense (12) (5) (22)
Development costs 322 (66) (104)
Provision for social security on stock options (21) (90) (132)
Stock compensation expense 9 (35) (85)
Cash flow hedges 9 6 (22)
Net investment in foreign entities — 48 —
Amortisation of identifiable intangible assets
acquired (22) (22) (7
Amortisation of goodwill 162 206 28
Impairment of goodwill 151 104 —
Deferred tax effect of US GAAP adjustment (75) 76 47
Net income under US GAAP 4,097 3,603 1,903
Reconciliation of shareholders’ equity
2003 2002
€m €m
Total shareholders’ equity reported under IAS 15,148 14,281
US GAAP adjustments:
Pension expense (49) 37)
Additional minimum liability — (5)
Development costs 99) (421)
Marketable securities and unlisted investments 49 77
Provision for social security cost on stock options 14 35
Deferred compensation (10) (13)
Share issue premium 186 179
Stock compensation (176) (166)
Acquisition purchase price 3 4
Amortisation of identifiable intangible assets acquired (51) (29)
Amortisation of goodwill 396 234
Impairment of goodwill 255 104
Translation of goodwill (293) (240)
Deferred tax effect of US GAAP adjustments 64 147
Total shareholders’ equity under US GAAP 15,437 14,150

Impact of differing accounting practice on interpretation of
performance

The differing accounting methods that can be adopted around the world have an effect
on the apparent performance of companies and make global inter-company comparison
difficult. Reconciliations between different versions of GAAP improve the comparability
but real comparability will only be achieved if accounting treatments are unified.

To illustrate the impact that different versions of GAAP can have on the performance,
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consider the impact on the key ratios of the Incentive Group in 1999 when they restated
Danish GAAP to IAS.
The extract from which the financial ratios are calculated is shown below.

Incentive Group — changes in accounting policy to IAS

Before change FEffect of change After change
in accounting  in accounting  in accounting

policies policies policies

Effect on the consolidated

income statement
1999 (DKKm)
Net sales 3,451 3,451
Gross margin 1,357 (236) 1,121
Operating profit before amortisation

of goodwill, etc. 1 13 14
Operating income 17 (61) 44)
Ordinary income before tax (68) (61) (129)
Net income (98) 6 (92)

Effect on the consolidated balance sheet
1999 (DKKm)

Financial fixed assets 7 1,486 1,493
Property, plant and equipment 676 676
Investments 147 147
Inventories, etc. 624 34 658
Receivables 818 206 1,024
Cash and cash equivalents 220 220
Total asset 2,492 1,726 4,218
Stockholders’ equity (57) 1,659 1,602
Provisions 186 67 253
TLong-term and short-term debt® 2,363 2,363
Total liabilities and shareholders’

equity 2,492 1,726 4,218
Effect 1998-1999 for the Group 1999 1998
DKKm
Net income before change in

accounting policies (98) 152
— Production overheads 0 0
— Amortisation of goodwill (74) (43)
— Development costs 13 (2)
— Warranty and pension allowances 0 ®)
— Tax 67 (19)
Net effect of the change in

accounting policies 6 (69)
Net income after change in

accounting policies 92) 83

*The short- and long-term debt includes short-term debt of DKK1,227m and
long-term debt of DKK1,136m.
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1999 1998

Total assets before change in

accounting policies 2,492 2,248
— Production overheads 34 31
— Goodwill 1,405 686
— Development costs 81 61
— Tax assets 206 92
Net effect of the change in

accounting policies 1,726 870
Total assets after change in

accounting policies 4,218 3,118
Total liabilities before change in

accounting policies 2,492 2,248
Stockholders’ equity before change (57) 930
— Production overheads 34 31
— Goodwill 1,405 686
— Development costs 81 61
— Warranty and pension allowances (28) (28)
— Tax 167 9)
Net effect on stockholders’ equity 1,659 741
Allowances and debt before change 2,549 1,318
— Warranty and pension allowances 28 28
— Tax 39 101
Net effect on allowances and debt 67 129
Total liabilities after change in

accounting policies 4,218 3,118

Ratio

Return on capital employed

Operating income/Total assets less current

Danish GAAP

liabilities 1.3%
Operating profit margin
Operating profit/Sales 0.5% (1.3%)
Current ratio
Current assets/Current liabilities 1.35 1.55
Gearing
Long-term debt/Total assets less current liabilities 89.8% 38%
Earnings per share
Net income/Number of shares DKK(18.1) DKK(17)

The alterations in the above ratios have been caused by the following accounting
policy changes that were necessary to restate the financial statements from Danish
GAAP to IAS:

Goodwill
Under TAS goodwill is capitalised and amortised over its useful life which cannot

exceed twenty years. [Note that this treatment changed with the introduction of
IFRS 3 Business Combinations.]
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Development costs
Development costs have been capitalised and amortised under IAS over a life not
exceeding five years.

Inventory measurement
Production overheads are included in the measurement of inventories and allocated
on a pro rata basis to cost of goods sold.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax assets related to tax loss carry-forwards are capitalised or set off
against deferred tax liabilities provided that the losses are likely to be utilised in
the future.

Summary

The published accounts of a listed company are intended to provide a report to
enable shareholders to assess current year stewardship and management performance
and to predict future cash flows. In order to assess stewardship and management
performance, there have been mandatory requirements for standardised presentation,
using formats prescribed by International Accounting Standards. There have also
been mandatory requirements for the disclosure of accounting policies, which allow
shareholders to make comparisons between years. As regards future cash flows, these
are normally perceived to be influenced by past profits, the asset base as shown by
the balance sheet and any significant changes. In order to assist sharcholders to
predict future cash flows with an understanding of the risks involved, more
information has been required by the IASB. This has taken two forms:

® more quantitative information in the accounts, e.g. segmental analysis, and the
impact of changes on the operation, e.g. a breakdown of turnover, costs and
profits for both new and discontinued operations; and

® more qualitative information, e.g. the operating and financial review, related
party disclosures, effect of changes in accounting policy.

REVIEW QUESTIONS

Explain why two companies carrying out identical trading transactions could produce different
gross profit figures.

An income statement might contain the following profit figures:

Gross profit

Profit from operations

Profit before tax

Net profit from ordinary activities

Net profit for the period.
Explain when you would use each profit figure for analysis purposes, e.g. profit from operations
may be used in the percentage return on capital employed.
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3 Classify the following items into cost of sales, distribution costs, administrative expenses, other
operating income or item to be disclosed after trading profit:

(a) Personnel department costs

(b) Computer department costs

(c) Cost accounting department costs

(d) Financial accounting department costs

(e) Bad debts

(f) Provisions for warranty claims

(g) Interest on funds borrowed to finance an increase in working capital

(h) Interest on funds borrowed to finance an increase in fixed production assets.

4 'Companies should begin to move to greater disclosure of:
@ Days training per year for categories of staff.

@ Expenditure on training, both in total and differentiated between categories of employees. This
could be supplemented with information regarding the spread of expenditure during the year.
This is most likely to be best presented in diagrammatic form.

@® Career and development policy, both vertically and horizontally. A short statement setting out
the relevance of the approach to the future of the company and how management plan to deal
with it should be provided and could, over time, be extended to include information on staff
turnover rates, average length of service, costs of recruitment, voluntary payments on
termination of employment and number of professionally qualified staff.?

(a) Discuss the extent to which this information would assist the investor to:

(i) assess stewardship performance;
(i) predict future cash flows.

(b) Discuss the extent to which the annual report should contain the information suggested in
the CIMA publication and the reasons for its inclusion.

5 What are the fundamental objectives of corporate reports??*

6 ‘A single set of multi-purpose financial statements is unable to satisfy the needs of shareholders for
both a stewardship report and a report to assist the prediction of future cash flows.’ Discuss.

7 Discuss the relevance of the information in the Statement of Recognised Income and Expense to
an investor. Explain the advantages and disadvantages of combining the income statement and
this statement into a single report.

8 Describe the content of an OFR statement in UK financial statements and discuss whether it
should be made mandatory, more prescriptive and audited.

9 The SEC have objected to the use of the fair override on the grounds that fairness is achieved by
compliance with standards and that the override could lead to companies concealing poor
performance and weakening balance sheets. An opposing view is that the SEC stance leads to
companies seeking ways to report which do not infringe standards but are not fair Discuss whether
the override results in less transparency and financial statements which are less informative.
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EXERCISES

An extract from the solution is provided in the Appendix at the end of the text for exercises marked
with an asterisk (*).

* Question |

The following trial balance was extracted from the books of Old NV on 3| December 20X1.

€000 €000
Sales 12,050
Returns outwards 313
Provision for depreciation
plant 738
vehicles 375
Rent receivable 100
Trade payables 738
Debentures 250
Issued share capital — ordinary €1 shares 3,125
— preference shares (treated as equity) 625
Share premium 250
Retained earnings 875
Inventory 825
Purchases 6,263
Returns inwards 350
Carriage inwards I3
Carriage outwards 125
Salesmen’s salaries 800
Administrative wages and salaries 738
Plant (includes €362,000 acquired in 20X1) 1,562
Motor vehicles |,125
Goodwill 1,062
Distribution expenses 290
Administrative expenses 286
Directors’ remuneration 375
Trade receivables 3,875
Cash at bank and in hand 1,750
19,439 19,439

Note of information not taken into the trial balance data:

(a) Provide for:
(i) An audit fee of €38,000.
(i) Depreciation of plant at 20% straight-line.
(iii) Depreciation of vehicles at 25% reducing balance.
(iv) The goodwill suffered an impairment in the year of €177,000.
(v) Income tax of €562,000.
(vi) Debenture interest of €25,000.
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(vii) A preference dividend of 8%.
(viii) An ordinary dividend of €0.1 per share.
(b) Closing inventory was valued at €1,125,000 at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
C ministrative expenses were prepai ,000.
(c) Administrati p prepaid by €12,000

Required:

() Prepare an income statement for internal use for the year ended 31 December 20XI1.

(b) Prepare an income statement for the year ended 3| December 20X| and a balance sheet as at
that date in Format | style of presentation.

Question 2
HK Ltd has prepared its draft trial balance to 30 June 20X1, which is shown below.

The authorised share capital is 4,000,000 9% preference shares of $1 each and 18,000,000 ordinary
shares of 50c each.

Trial balance at 30 June 20X

$000 $000
Freehold land 2,880
Freehold buildings (cost $4,680,000) 4,126
Plant and machinery (cost $3,096,000) 1,858
Fixtures and fittings (cost $864,000) 691
Goodwill 480
Trade receivables 7263
Trade payables 2,591
Inventory |'1,794
Bank balance 1,561
Income tax on loan interest [51
Development grant received 85
Profit on sale of freehold land 536
Sales 381,600
Cost of sales 318979
Administration expenses 9,000
Distribution costs 35,100
Directors’ emoluments 562
Bad debts |57
Auditors’ remuneration 12
Hire of plant and machinery 2,400
Loan interest paid net 454
Dividends paid during the year — preference 162
— ordinary 426
9% loan 7,200
Share capital — preference shares (treated as equity) 3,600
— ordinary shares 5,400
Retained earnings 6,364
Revaluation account 780

408,156 408,156
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The following information is available:

The depreciation policy of the company is to provide depreciation at the following rates:

Plant and machinery 20% on cost
Fixtures and fittings 0% on cost
Buildings 2% on cost

In addition, it has been decided to create a reserve of 10% on the cost of plant and machinery to
allow for the increased cost of replacement. (Depreciation for 20X 1 has not been provided in the
draft trial balance.) Charge all depreciation to cost of sales.

Acquisitions of property, plant and equipment during the year were:
Plant $173,000 Fixtures $144,000

Government grants of $85,000 have been received in respect of plant purchased during the year
and are shown in the trial balance.

During the year freehold land which cost $720,000 was sold for $2,036,000. It was valued in last
year's balance sheet at $1,500,000. The revaluation surplus had been credited to revaluation reserve.

Inventory shown in the trial balance ($11,794,000) consists of:
Raw materials $1,872,000
Work-in-progress $6,660,000
Finished goods $3,262,000

Trade receivables and payables are all payable and due within the next financial year. The loan is
unsecured and repayable in ten years' time.

During the year a fire took place at one of the company's depots, involving losses of $200,000.
These losses have been written off to cost of sales shown in the trial balance. Since the end of
the financial year a settlement of $150,000 has been agreed with the company's insurers.

[t is agreed that $500,000 of the finished goods inventory is obsolete and should be written off.
However, since the end of the financial year an offer has been received from another company
to buy this inventory for $300,000, subject to certain modifications being made at an estimated
cost to HK Ltd of $50,000.This has now been agreed.

A contract has been entered into, with a building contractor, to extend the company's premises.
The contract price is $5,000,000 and the work is scheduled to start in December 20XI1.

A final ordinary dividend of 3c per share is declared before the year-end, together with the
balance of the preference dividend. Neither dividend was paid at the year-end.

The income tax charge in the income statement is to be that based on the net profit for the yean,
at a rate of 35%.

The goodwill has not been impaired.

The loan was raised during the year and there is no outstanding interest accrued at the year-end.

Required:

@)

Prepare the company’s income statement for the year to 30 June 20X| and a balance sheet as
at that date, complying with the relevant accounting standards in so far as the information given
permits.

(All calculations to nearest $000.)

(b) Prepare the property, plant and equipment schedule for the notes to the accounts.

(©)

Explain the usefulness of the schedules prepared in (b).
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Question 3

Basalt plc is a wholesaler: The following is its trial balance as at 31 December 20X0.

Dr Cr
£000 £000
Ordinary share capital: £1 shares 300
Share premium 20
General reserve 16
Retained earnings as at
| January 20X0 55
Inventory as at | January 20X0 66
Sales 962
Purchases 500
Administrative expenses 10
Distribution expenses 6
Plant and machinery — cost 220
Plant and machinery —
provision for depreciation 49
Returns outwards 25
Returns inwards 27
Carriage inwards 9
Warehouse wages 101
Salesmen’s salaries 64
Administrative wages and salaries 60
Hire of motor vehicles 19
Directors’ remuneration 30
Rent receivable 7
Trade receivables 326
Cash at bank 62
Trade payables 66
1,500 1,500

The following additional information is supplied:

(i) Depreciate plant and machinery 20% on straight-line basis.

(i) Inventory at 31 December 20XO0 is £90,000.

(i) Accrue auditors’ remuneration £2,000.

(iv) Income tax for the year will be £58,000 payable October 20X1.

(v) There is a proposed ordinary dividend of £75,000 for the year, declared but not paid before the
year-end.

(vi) Itis estimated that 7/1 | of the plant and machinery is used in connection with distribution, with
the remainder for administration. The motor vehicle costs should be assigned to distribution.

Required:
(a) Prepare an income statement and balance sheet in a form that complies with IAS |. No notes
to the accounts are required.
(b) Briefly explain what you would expect to find in the following sections of a UK company annual
report:
(i) Directors’ report.
(ii) Chairman’s report.
(iii) Auditors’ report.
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Question 4

Raffles Ltd trades as a wine wholesaler with a large warehouse in Asia. The trainee accountant at Raffles
Ltd has produced the following draft accounts for the year ended 31 December 20X6.

Income Statement

$

Sales 1,628,000
Less: Cost of sales [,100,000
Gross profit 528,000
Debenture interest paid 9,000
Distribution costs 32,800
Audit fees 7,000
Impairment of goodwill 2,500
Income tax liability on profits 165,000
Interim dividend 18,000
Dividend received from Diat P'or plc (6,000)
Bank interest 3,000
Overprovision of income tax in prior years (4,250)
Depreciation

Land and buildings 3,000

Plant and machinery 10,000

Fixtures and fittings 6,750
Administrative expenses 206,300
Net profit 74,900

Draft balance sheet at 31 December 20X6
$ $

Bank balance 12,700 Inventory 56,350
0% debentures 20X9 180,000 Receivables 179,830
Ordinary share capital Land and buildings 238,000

50¢c nominal value 250,000 Plant and machinery 74,000
Trade payables 32,830 Fixtures and fittings 20,250
Income tax

creditor | 65,000 Goodwill 40,000
Retained earnings 172,900 Investments at cost 130,000
Revaluation reserve 25,000

838,430 838,430

The following information is relevant:

| The directors maintain that the investments in Diat P'or plc will be held by the company on a
continuing basis and that the current market value of the investments at the balance sheet date
was $135,000. However, since the balance sheet date there has been a substantial fall in market
prices and these investments are now valued at $90,000.

2 The authorised share capital of Raffles Ltd is 600,000 ordinary shares.

3 The directors propose to pay a final dividend of 7.2c per share, declared but not paid at the
balance sheet date.
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During the year the company paid shareholders the proposed 20X5 final dividend of $30,000.
This transaction has already been recorded in the accounts.

The company incurred $150,000 in restructuring costs during the year. These have been debited
to the administrative expenses account. The trainee accountant subsequently informs you that tax
relief of $45,000 will be given on these costs and that this relief has not yet been accounted for
in the records.

The company employs an average of ten staff, 60% of whom work in the wine purchasing and
importing department, 30% in the distribution department and the remainder in the accounts
department. Staff costs total $75,000.

The company has three directors. The managing director earns $18,000 while the purchasing and
distribution directors earn $14,000 each. In addition the directors receive bonuses and pensions
of $1,800 each. All staff costs have been debited to the income statement.

The directors propose to decrease the bad debt provision by $1,500 as a result of the improved
credit control in the company in recent months.

Depreciation policy is as follows:

Land and buildings: No depreciation on land. Buildings are depreciated over 25 years
on a straight-line basis. This is to be charged to cost of sales.

Plant and machinery: [0% on cost, charge to cost of sales

Fixtures and fittings: 25% reducing balance, charge to administration.

The directors have provided information on a potential lawsuit. A customer is suing them for
allegedly tampering with the imported wine by injecting an illegal substance to improve the colour
of the wine. The managing director informs you that this lawsuit is just ‘sour grapes’ by a jealous
customer and provides evidence from the company solicitor which indicates that there is only a
small possibility that the claim for $8,000 will succeed.

Purchased goodwill was acquired in 20X3 for $50,000. The annual impairment test revealed an
impairment of $2,500 in the current yean

Plant and machinery of $80,000 was purchased during the year to add to the $20,000 plant
already owned. Fixtures and fittings acquired 2 years ago with a net book value of $13,500 were
disposed of. Accumulated depreciation of fixtures and fittings at | January 20X6 was $37,500.

Land was revalued by $25,000 by Messrs Moneybags, Chartered Surveyors, on an open market
value basis, to $175,000.The revaluation surplus was credited to the revaluation reserve. There is
no change in the value of the buildings.

Gross profit is stated after charging $15,000 relating to obsolete cases of wine that have ‘gone
off’. Since that time an offer has been received by the company for its obsolete wine stock of
$8,000, provided the company does additional vinification on the wine at a cost of $2,000 to
bring it up to the buyer's requirements. A cash discount of 5% is allowed for early settlement and
it is anticipated that the buyer will take advantage of this discount.

Costs of $10,000 relating to special plant and machinery have been included in cost of sales in
error: This was not spotted until after the production of the draft accounts.

Required:

(@)

Prepare an income statement for the year ended 31 December 20X6 and a balance sheet at
that date for presentation to the members of Raffles Ltd in accordance with relevant accounting
standards.

(b) Produce detailed notes to the income statement and balance sheet of Raffles Ltd for the year

ended 3| December 20X6.



92 + Regulatory framework — an attempt to achieve uniformity

Question 5

Phoenix plc's trial balance at 30 June 20X7 was as follows:

£000 £000
Freehold premises 2,400
Plant and machinery 1,800 540
Furniture and fittings 620 360
Inventory at 30 June 20X7 | 468
Sales 6,465
Administrative expenses |, 126
Ordinary shares of £1 each 4,500
Trade investments 365
Revaluation reserve 600
Development cost 415
Share premium 500
Personal ledger balances 947 566
Cost of goods sold 4,165
Distribution costs 669
Overprovision for tax 26
Dividend received 80
Interim dividend paid 200
Retained earnings 488
Disposal of warehouse 225
Cash and bank balances |75

The following information is available:

Freehold premises acquired for £1.8 million were revalued in 20X4, recognising a gain of £600,000.
These include a warehouse, which cost £120,000, was revalued at £150,000 and was sold in June
20X7 for £225,000. Phoenix does not depreciate freehold premises.

Phoenix wishes to report plant and machinery at open market value which was estimated to be
£1,960,000 on | July 20Xé.

Company policy is to depreciate its assets on the straight-line method at annual rates as follows:
Plant and machinery 10%

Furniture and fittings 5%

Until this year the company’s policy has been to capitalise development costs, to the extent
permitted by relevant accounting standards. The company must now write off the development
costs, including £124,000 incurred in the year, as the project no longer meets the capitalisation
criteria.

During the year the company has issued one million shares of £1 at £1.20 each.

Included within administrative expenses are the following:

Staff salaries (including £125,000 to directors) — #£468,000
Directors’ fees £96,000
Audit fees and expenses £86,000

Income tax for the year is estimated at £122,000.
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8 Directors propose a final dividend of 4p per share declared but not paid at the year-end.

Required:

(@) In respect of the year ended 30 June 20X7: the income statement.
(b) The balance sheet as at 30 June 20X7.
(c) The statement of movement of property, plant and equipment.

(d) The statement of recognised gains and losses.
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CHAPTER 4

Preparation of published accounts

4.1 Introduction

In this chapter we illustrate the preparation of an income statement and balance sheet
using Format 1 of IAS 1 from trial balance to published accounts. We then take into
account the effects of other international accounting standards. We follow a progressive
stage approach to the problem.

Stage 1 is the preparation of the internal income statement from the trial balance data.
Stage 2 is the preparation of an income statement in Format 1. Stage 3 is the prepara-
tion of a balance sheet. The aim is that you should be able to prepare a set of accounts
that conform to the prescribed formats and that you should also understand how a
company arrives at the figures that appear in the published financial statements that it
presents to its shareholders.

4.2 Stage |: preparation of the internal income statement from a trial
balance

In this chapter we use Format 1, i.e. costs analysed according to function.!

The data given in Figure 4.1 are available for Illustrious SpA for the year ended
31 December 20X1. The following information has not yet been taken into account in
the amounts shown in the trial balance:

® Inventory at cost at 31 December 20X1 was €22,875,000. Inventory at net realisable
value at 31 December 20X1 was €3,000,000. The cost of this inventory was
€£4,000,000. The reduction to net realisable value was necessitated because the
customer who would normally have taken the products assembled from these inventory
items had gone into liquidation.

® Depreciation is to be provided as follows:
2% on freehold buildings using the straight-line method,
10% on equipment using the reducing balance method,
25% on motor vehicles using reducing balance.

® €2,300,000 was prepaid for repairs and €5,175,000 has accrued for wages.
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Figure 4.1 Trial balance of lllustrious SpA as at 31 December 20X

€000 €000
Bank interest |,150
Bank overdraft 8,625
Cash in hand 4,600
Debentures 63,250
Receivables 28,750
Depreciation — equipment 3,450
— motor vehicles 9,200
Directors’ remuneration |,150
Dividends 1,725
Equipment 14,950
Fees — audit [,150
Freehold land 57,500
Freehold buildings 57,500
Hire charges 300
Interest on debentures 6,325
Issued share capital 17,250
Lighting and power 920
Miscellaneous expenses 275
Motor expenses 9,200
Motor vehicles 20,700
Post, telephone, courier 1,840
Retained earnings 57,500
Provision for income tax 5,750
Purchases 258,750
[nsurance 3,450
Repairs and maintenance 2,760
Salaries and wages 18,055
Tax — income 5,750
Sales 345,000
Inventory at | Jan 20Xl 43,125
Trade payables 29,900
539,925 539,925

An income statement prepared for internal purposes is set out in Figure 4.2. We have
arranged the expenses in the income statement in descending monetary value. This is not
a prescribed method and companies may organise the items in a number of ways, such
as alphabetical sequence or grouping by function, e.g. establishment, administration,
selling, distribution and financial expenses.
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Figure 4.2 Income statement of lllustrious SpA for the year ended
31 December 20X1

€000 €000
Sales 345,000
Less:
Opening inventory 43,125
Purchases 258,750
301,875
Closing inventory 25,875
Cost of sales 276,000
Gross profit 69,000
Less: Expenses:
Salaries and wages 23,230
Motor expenses 9,200
Debenture interest 6,325
Depreciation 5175
Insurance 3,450
Post, telephone, courier 1,840
Fees — audit [,150
Bank interest |,150
Directors’ remuneration |,150
Lighting and power 920
Repairs and maintenance 460
Hire charges 300
Miscellaneous expenses 275
54,625
Profit before tax 14,375
Tax 5,750
Profit for the year 8,625
Dividends (treated as a reserve movement externally) 1,725
Amount transferred to reserves 6,900

4.3 Stage 2: preparation of the income statement of lllustrious SpA in
Format | style

The information contained in the internal income statement in Figure 4.2 needs to be
redrafted into the format required by IAS 1. In addition, specific information that would
not necessarily appear within the format information needs to be disclosed. First we
redraft using Format 1 with its costs analysed according to function, as set out in
Figure 4.3.
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Figure 4.3 lllustrious SpA income statement redrafted into Format | style

Income statement of lllustrious SpA
for the year ended 3| December 20X

€000
Revenue* 345,000.00
Cost of sales 293,422.50
Gross profit 51,577.50
Distribution, selling and marketing costs 25041.25
Administrative expenses 4,686.25
Operating profit 21,850.00
Finance costs* 7,475.00
Profit on ordinary activities before tax 14,375.00
Tax* 5,750.00
Profit for the year* 8,625.00

*Required information on the face of the income statement.

Cost of Distribution Administration

Total sales costs expenses

€000 €000 €000 €000
Cost of sales 276,000 276,000
Salaries and wages NI 23,230 12,075 10,580 575
Motor expenses 9,200 9,200
Depreciation N2 5175 |,150 3,450 575
Insurance N3 3,450 [,725 862.5 862.5
Post, telephone, courier N3 1,840 920 460 460
Fees — audit [,150 1,150
Directors’ salaries N4 [,150 575 575
Lighting and power N3 920 460 230 230
Repairs and maintenance N3 460 230 [15 ['15
Hire charges N3 300 150 75 75
Miscellaneous expenses N3 275 137.5 68.75 68.75

323,150 293,422.5 25,041.25 4,686.25

Finance costs will be disclosed after the trading profit:

€000
Debenture interest 6,325
Bank interest |,150
7475

Note that dividends would be reported in the Statement of Changes in Equity.
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4.3.1 How did we arrive at the figures for cost of sales, distribution costs
and administrative expenses?

In order to analyse the costs, we need to consider each item in the detailed income
statement. Each item will be allocated to a classification or apportioned if it relates to
more than one of the classifications. This requires the company to make a number of
assumptions about the basis for allocating and apportioning. The process is illustrated in
Figure 4.4.

From the assumptions that have been made, it is clear that the figures appearing under
each of the cost classifications may be apportioned differently in different companies.

Figure 4.4 Assumptions made in analysing the costs

NI An analysis of salaries and wages (including accrued wages)

Cost of Distribution Administration

Total sales costs expenses

€000 €000 €000 €000
Factory assembly staff [ 1,500 | 1,500
Inspectors 575 575
Warehouse staff 4,600 4,600
Accounts department 575 575
Drivers 3,680 3,680
Salespersons’ salaries 2,300 2,300

23,230 12,075 10,580 575
N2 An analysis of depreciation
Freehold buildings [,150 575 287.5 287.5
Equipment [,150 575 287.5 287.5
Motor vehicles 2,875 2,875

5,175 [,150 3,450 575

N3 An apportionment of operating expenses
[t is assumed that the following expenses can be apportioned on the basis of the space occupied
by the activity, as follows:

€000 €000 €000 €000
Insurance 3,450 1,725 862.5 862.5
Post, telephone, courier | 840 920 460 460
Lighting and power 920 460 230 230
Repairs and maintenance 460 230 15 15
Hire charges 300 150 75 75
Miscellaneous expenses 275 137.5 68.75 68.75

N4 An allocation of directors’ salaries
[t is assumed that the directors spend half their time on production and half on administration.
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4.3.2 What information would be disclosed by way of note to the income
statement?

We have mentioned that sensitive information is required to be disclosed in the notes to
the income statement. The usual practice is to have a note referenced to the profit on
ordinary activities before tax. For Illustrious SpA the note would read as in Figure 4.5,
with additional information regarding the loss on the inventory. This treatment — the
inclusion of the expense in its cost type heading with more detail in the notes — complies
with TAS 1, which does not allow for the highlighting of exceptional or unusual items.
These should be disclosed separately either by way of note or on the face of the income
statement only if that degree of prominence is necessary in order to give a fair view.?

Figure 4.5 lllustrious SpA disclosure note accompanying the income statement

Profit on ordinary activities before tax is stated after charging:

€000
Depreciation and amortisation 5175
Exceptional loss on inventory 1,000

4.4 Stage 3: preparation of the balance sheet

The balance sheet in Figure 4.6 follows the headings set out in section 3.14.1 above.

Figure 4.6 lllustrious SpA balance sheet and disclosure notes

Disclosure notes to show make-up of balance sheet items
Note | Property, plant and equipment movements

Property, plant and equipment Freehold Motor
property Equipment vehicles Total
€000 €000 €000 €000
Cost
At | January 20X 115,000 14,950 20,700 150,650
Additions
Disposals
At 31 December 20X | 15,000 14,950 20,700 150,650
Accumulated depreciation
At | January 20XI| 3,450 9,200 12,650
Charge for year [,150 [,150 2,875 5,175
At 31 December 20X [,150 4,600 12,075 17,825

Net book value
At 3| December 20X | ['13,850 10,350 8,625 132,825
At 3| December 20X0 ['15,000 |'1,500 I'1,500 138,000
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Figure 4.6 (cont.)

Balance sheet of lllustrious SPA as at 31 December 20X

€000 €000
Non-current assets
Property, Plant and Equipment Note | 132,825
Current assets
Inventory 25,875
Receivables 28,750
Cash at bank and in hand 4,600
Prepayments 2,300
61,525
Current liabilities
Payables 29,900
Provision for income tax 5,750
Accrued charges 5175
Bank overdraft 8,625
49,450
Net current assets 12,075
Total assets less current liabilities 144,900
Non-current liabilities
Debentures 63,250
81,650
Capital and reserves
Share capital 17,250
Retained earnings 64,400
81,650

4.5 Preparation of accounts in Format | following IAS 8 and IFRS 5

By way of illustration, assume you are the chief accountant of L.ewes Road Wines plc, a
UK wholesale distributor currently operating from a single warehouse/office complex in
London. Until June 20X2 the company had a plant at Dover, where wine that was
imported in bulk was bottled prior to its sale to retail outlets. The profitability of this
activity had declined and the plant had closed.

One of your unqualified assistants has prepared the following draft for the published
income statement for the year to 31 December 20X2, which he has given to you together
with his notes and workings as shown in Figure 4.7.
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Figure 4.7 Lewes Road Wines plc Income statement (1)

Income statement for the year ended 31 December 20X2

£000
Revenue (Note |) 1,288
Cost of sales (Note 2) TA4
Gross profit 544
Distribution costs (Note 3) 232
Administration costs (Note 4) 142
374
Operating profit 170
Other operating income (Note 5) 286
Profit on ordinary activities before interest 456
Interest receivable 4
460
Finance costs 33
Profit on ordinary activities before taxation 427
Tax on profit on ordinary activities (Note 6) 103
Profit for the year 324

Notes and workings
| Revenue includes £175,000 in respect of bottling plant revenue.

2 Cost of sales

Wine purchased (including duty and carriage in) 536
Labour 72
Bottles, etc. 150
Inventory variation (all wine) (14

zt4
£72,000 (at cost) of wine had to be discarded during the year owing to contamination at
source.

Labour costs included £10,000 for wages at the bottling plant and £30,000 in respect of

redundancy payments to former employees at the Dover works.

3 Distribution costs

Carriage 120
Sales department salaries 51
Bad debts 6l

pE?)

£55,000 represented the bad debt incurred following the collapse of a chain of cut price

wine shops.
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Figure 4.7 (cont.)

4 Administrative expenses

Salaries (£10,000 in respect of Dover) 78
Premises costs (£1,000 in respect of Dover) 19
Other overheads (£2,000 in respect of Dover) 2|
Cost relating to the closure of the Dover plant 24
142
5 Other operating income
Profit on revaluing Brighton premises 100
Profit on sale of Dover premises 212
Loss on sale of bottling equipment (26)
286
6 Taxation
Income tax due on 20X2 operating profit 44
Income tax on the capital gain on sale of
Dover premises 56
Underprovision for taxation in 20Xl 3
103

There was an error on the previous year closing inventory calculation resulting in an
understatement of inventory by £100,000.

You need now to redraft the income statement so that it complies with IAS 1 and
generally accepted accounting principles. Income tax is 30%. In approaching this task
you need to consider the provisions of IFRS 5 relating to the treatment of discontinued
operations, IAS 1 regarding unusual items and IAS 8§ regarding errors.

Discontinued operations

Applying the layered treatment of IFRS 5, which requires the results of continuing and
discontinued operations to be disclosed separately, it is necessary to identify the revenue,
cost of sales and expenses that relate to the discontinued bottling operation in arriving at
the operating profit.

Unusual activities

Paragraph 86 of IAS 1 states that, when items of income and expense are material, their
nature and amount shall be disclosed separately — such disclosure is relevant to explain
the performance of the enterprise for the period. These items may include losses on
termination of operations and profits or losses on the sale of non-current assets.

Revaluation

The revaluation surplus, being unrealised, cannot appear in the income statement. It
should, however, appear in the statement of changes in equity or the statement of
recognised gains and losses.
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Errors

TAS 8 requires errors of prior years to be accounted for by restating the comparative figures
and adjusting the opening balance of reserves for the cumulative effect. Note that this
means that it is also necessary to take the tax effect into account.

The detailed workings and income statement are given in Figure 4.8.

Figure 4.8 Lewes Road Wines plc income statement (2)

Income statement for the year ended 31 December 20X2

Continuing Discontinued
operations operations Total
£000 £000 £000
Turnover [,113 175 1,288
Cost of sales 654 160 814
Gross profit 459 I5 474
Administrative costs (105) (13) (118)
Distribution costs (232) — (232)
Operating profit 122 2 124
Profit on property sale 212 212
Loss on disposal of discontinued activity (80) (80)
Profit on ordinary activities before interest 122 134 256
Interest receivable 4l — 4l
126 134 260

Finance costs 33 — 33
Profit on ordinary activities before taxation 93 134 227
Taxation |7 56 73
Profit for the year 76 78 154
Statement of movement on reserves
Profit for the year 154
Dividends (45)
Retained profits b/f:

As previously reported 274

Prior year adjustment 100

Tax thereon (30) 344
Retained profits carried forward 453
Notes

Unusual items
Cost of sales includes £72,000 in respect of wine that had to be discarded during the year

owing to contamination at source.

Sales costs includes £55,000 in respect of a bad debt incurred following the collapse of a

chain of cut price wine shops.
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Figure 4.8 (cont.)

Workings

Cost of sales Bottling Other Total

Per draft — labour 40 32 72
bottles, etc. 150 150
stock (14) (14
wine 536 536

Prior year item 100 100

Loss on sale (30) (30)

| 60 654 814

Administration expenses

Per draft — salaries 10 68 78
premises I 18 19
other 2 19 21
closure 24 24

Loss on sale 24 (24)

13 105 Il

Loss on closure

Administration 24

Redundancy 30

Bottling equipment 26

80

Statement of recognised income and expense

Profit for the financial year 154 [Figure 4.8 Profit for the year]
Unrealised surplus on revaluation 100 [Figure 4.7 Note 5 premises revalued]
Total recognised gains 254

Prior year adjustment _ 70 [Figure 4.8 adjusting profit brought

324 forward]

4.6 Additional information value of IFRS 5

Changes in the operation

The additional disclosure of the effect of discontinuing operations is intended to assist
the user to assess more readily the current performance and to predict future maintain-
able profits. However, care is required when comparing current performance with that of
previous years.

Newly acquired activities

In the international accounting standards there is no requirement for information to be
separately disclosed in the income statement about the performance of newly acquired
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activities. As a result the current year’s performance may include the results of activities
that were not in the previous periods and therefore any comparison will be invalid. In
some accounting regimes, such as that in the UK, information about newly acquired
activities is required. As always therefore when interpreting financial information care
must be taken when concluding about the results.

4.7 Additional information value of I1AS 24

Related party relationships for the purposes of IAS 24° could be any of the following:

@ enterprises that directly, or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, control, or
are controlled by, or are under common control with, the reporting enterprise (this
includes holding companies, subsidiaries and fellow subsidiaries);

@ associates;

@ individuals owning, directly or indirectly, an interest in the voting power of the
reporting enterprise that gives them significant influence over the enterprise, and close
members of the family of such an individual (close family members of an individual
are those that may be expected to influence, or be influenced by, that person in their
dealings with the enterprise);

@ key management personnel, that is, those persons having authority and responsibility
for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the reporting enterprise,
including directors and officers of companies and close members of the families of such
individuals;

@ enterprises in which a substantial interest in the voting power is owned, directly or
indirectly, by any person described above or over which such a person is able to
exercise significant influence. This includes enterprises owned by the directors or
major shareholders of the reporting enterprise and enterprises that have a member of
key management in common with the reporting enterprise.

Parties deemed not to be related parties

IAS 24 sets out a number of parties* who are not deemed related and for whom no
disclosure is therefore required:

@ two companies simply because they have a director in common (but it is necessary to
consider the possibility, and to assess the likelihood, that the director would be able
to affect the policies of both companies in their mutual dealings);

@ providers of finance, trade unions, public utilities or government departments in the
course of their normal dealings with the enterprise;

@ a single customer, supplier, franchisor, distributor or general agent with whom an
enterprise transacts a significant volume of business merely by virtue of the resulting
economic dependence;

@ two ventures simply because they share joint control over a joint venture.

Related party transactions

A related party transaction is a transfer of resources or obligations between related parties,
regardless of whether a price is charged. Examples® of transactions that may give rise to
related party disclosures are:
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@ purchases or sales of goods; purchases or sales of property and other assets; providing
or receiving of services;

@ agency arrangements; leasing arrangements; transfer of research and development;
licence agreements;

® finance (including loans and equity contributions in cash or in kind); guarantees and
collaterals;

@® management contracts.

Related party disclosures

Related party relationships where control exists should be disclosed irrespective of
whether there have been transactions between the related parties. If there have been
transactions between related parties the disclosures required® are:

@ the amount of the transactions;

® the amount of the outstanding balances and
(1) their terms and conditions, including whether they are secured, and the nature of
the consideration to be provided in settlement; and
(i1) details of any guarantees given or received,

® provisions for doubtful debts related to the amount of outstanding balances; and

® the expense recognised during the period in respect of bad or doubtful debts due from
related parties;

@ key management personnel compensation in total and for each of the following
categories:
(a) short-term employee benefits;
(b) post-employment benefits;
(c) other long-term benefits;
(d) termination benefits; and
(e) equity compensation benefits.

4.7.1 Illustration of related party disclosures

The following illustration, from the 2003 financial statements of Nokia, shows the type
of disclosures that should be made under TAS 24.

Related Party Disclosures

Nokia Pension Foundation is a separate legal entity that manages and holds in trust
the assets for the Group’s Finnish employee benefit plans; these assets include
0.03% of Nokia’s shares. In 2002 Nokia Pension Foundation was the counterparty to
equity swap agreements with the Group. The equity swaps were entered into to
hedge part of the company’s liability relating to future social security cost on stock
options. During 2003, all outstanding transactions were terminated and no new ones
were entered into. During 2002, new transactions were entered into and old ones
terminated based on the hedging need. The transactions and terminations were
executed on standard commercial terms and conditions. The notional amount of the
equity swaps outstanding at December 31, 2002 was EUR 12 million and the fair
value EUR 0 million.
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At 31 December, 2003 the Group had no contribution payment liability to Nokia
Pension Foundation (EUR 14 million in 2002 included in accrued expenses).

At 31 December, 2003 the Group had borrowings amounting to EUR 64 million
(EUR 66 million in 2002) from Nokia Unterstiitzungskasse GmbH, the Group’s
German pension fund, which is a separate legal entity.

The Group’s recorded net rental expense of EUR 2 million in 2003 (EUR 2
million in 2002 and EUR 4 million in 2001) [was] pertaining to a sale-leaseback
transaction with the Nokia Pension Foundation involving certain buildings and a
lease of the underlying land.

There were no loans granted to top management at December 31, 2003 or 2002.
See note 4, Personnel Expenses, for officers’ and directors’ remunerations.

Summary

A public company that is listed on the Stock Exchange is required to present an
annual report and accounts to its shareholders.

The annual report consists of a number of statements. In Chapters 3 and 4 we have
considered the following statements: the directors’ report, the income statement, the
statement of changes in equity and the balance sheet. We have seen the following:

® There is more than one format for presenting the income statement and even
companies operating in the same industry sector might choose a different format.

® FEven where companies use the same format, they may classify costs into different
cost categories.

® The additional information disclosed, e.g. staff costs, cannot necessarily be related
to the categories of operations into which the company has classified its costs in
its income statement.

® There is no obvious, overriding rationale for the disclosure of information; it has

grown in an ad hoc fashion with disclosure required:

— for stewardship accounting, e.g. the disclosure of directors’ remuneration;

— for the shareholders as principal stakeholders, e.g. trading profit;

— for interested stakeholders, e.g. an analysis of employees and details of staff
costs;

— for the community as an interested stakeholder, e.g. company policy on
employment.

® The balance sheet can be prepared under historical cost accounting rules or
alternative accounting rules or a mixture of historical and alternative accounting
rules.

Perhaps we have reached a stage where the purpose of the annual report needs to be
reappraised and given a clearer focus.
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REVIEW QUESTIONS

I The directors of Ufool Ltd are aware that a sizeable number of shareholders, afthough still a
minority, are extremely unhappy with current dividend levels and are agitating for larger
distributions.

They have raised several points with the directors, who have turned to you as their trusty financial
and accounting adviser for assistance. The points put forward by these shareholders are as follows:

(i) Although the annual accounts disclose that £150,000 profit was available for distribution, it is
disclosed elsewhere in these accounts that £520,000 of the loan stock had been repaid. The
shareholders assert that this repayment was an attempt to lower the true profit and that, if
it were written back, more profit would be available for distribution.

(i) Despite this year's relatively low profit, there is a very large balance of retained earnings
brought forward from preceding years. A significant proportion of these retained earnings
from preceding years should be used to pay a larger dividend this year.

(i) It is unfair to have kept the dividend rate at 10% over the past few years when the average
dividend yield on the Stock Exchange has risen from 2% to 18%.The company’s dividend
rate should follow this average.

(iv) The return on capital employed for the company is 20% and this high rate of profitability
accurately reflects the ability of the company to pay far higher dividend levels.

(v) As profit figures can so easily be manipulated by the company's accountants, the £150,000 is
more than likely to be a significant underestimate of the real profit, so more profit could be
distributed if different accounting bases were used.

Comment on each of the above assertions to enable the board of directors to refute them
convincingly.

2 It is said that Format | extends the management accounting concept of responsibility accounting
to published financial statements. Explain what this means.

3 When preparing accounts under Format |, how would a bad debt that was materially larger than
normal be disclosed?

4 Explain the conditions set out in IFRS 5 for determining whether operations have been
discontinued and the problems that might arise in applying them.

5 ‘Annual accounts have been put into such a straitjacket with an overemphasis on uniform disclosure
that there will be a growing pressure by national bodies to introduce changes unilaterally which will
again lead to diversity in the quality of disclosure.This is both healthy and necessary. Discuss.

6 Explain the relevance to the user of accounts if expenses are classified as ‘administrative expenses’
rather than as ‘cost of sales’.

7 ‘The regulators are correct in their thinking that voluntary disclosures, e.g. OFR and Interim
Reports, are more helpful to shareholders than disclosures made under mandatory, more closely
defined formats. Discuss.

8 IAS | Presentation of Financial Statements requires the publication of a statement of recognised
income and expense or a statement of changes in equity.

Explain the need for the publishing of these statements, identifying the circumstances in which they
have to be published, and identify the items you would include in them.
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EXERCISES

An extract from the solution is provided in the Appendix at the end of the text for exercises marked

with an asterisk (*).

Question |

Springtime Ltd is a UK trading company buying and selling as wholesalers fashionable summer clothes.

The following balances have been extracted from the books as at 31 March 20X4:

Auditor's remuneration
Income tax based on the accounting profit:

For the year to 31 March 20X4

Overprovision for the year to 31 March 20X3
Delivery expenses (including £300,000 overseas)
Dividends: final (proposed — to be paid | August 20X4)

interim (paid on | October 20X3)

Non-current assets at cost:

Delivery vans

Office cars

Stores equipment
Dividend income (amount received from listed companies)
Office expenses
Overseas operations: closure costs of entire operations
Purchases
Sales (net of sales tax)
Inventory at cost:

At | April 20X3

At 31 March 20X4
Storeroom costs
Wages and salaries:

Delivery staff

Directors’ emoluments

Office staff

Storeroom staff

£000
30

3,200
200
1,200
200
100

200
40
5,000
1,200
800
350
24,000
35,000

5,000
6,000
1,000

700
400
100
400

Notes:

| Depreciation is provided at the following annual rates on a straight-line basis: delivery vans 20%;

office cars 25%; stores |%.

U N W N

The dividend income arises from investments held in non-current investments.
[t has been decided to transfer an amount of £150,000 to the deferred taxation account.
The overseas operations consisted of exports. In 20X3/X4 these amounted to £5,000,000 (sales)

The following taxation rates may be assumed: corporate income tax 35%; personal income tax 25%.

with purchases of £4,000,000. Related costs included £100,000 in storeroom staff and £15,000 for

office staff.
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6 Directors' emoluments include:
Chairperson 100,000
Managing director 125,000
Finance director 75,000

Sales director 75,000
Export director 25,000  (resigned 3| December 20X3)
£400,000
Required:

(a) Produce an income statement suitable for publication and complying as far as possible with
generally accepted accounting practice.

(b) Comment on how IFRS 5 has improved the quality of information available to users of accounts.

(c) Give two reasons why information contained in the accounting policies notes is of importance
to users of accounts.

* Question 2

Olive A/S incorporated, with an authorised capital consisting of one million ordinary shares of €1 each,
employs 646 persons, of whom 428 work at the factory and the rest at the head office. The trial
balance extracted from its books as at 30 September 20X4 is as follows:

€000 €000
Land and buildings (cost €600,000) 520 —
Plant and machinery (cost €840,000) 680 —
Proceeds on disposal of plant and machinery — 180
Fixtures and equipment (cost €120,000) 94 —
Sales — 3,460
Carriage inwards 162 —
Share premium account — 150
Advertising 12 —
Inventory on | Oct 20X3 211 —
Heating and lighting 80 —
Prepayments 15 —
Salaries 820 —
Trade investments at cost 248 —
Dividend received (net) on 9 Sept 20X4 — 45
Directors’ emoluments 180 —
Pension cost 100 —
Audit fees and expense 65 —
Retained earnings b/f — 601
Sales commission 92 —
Stationery 28 —
Development cost 425 —
Formation expenses 120 —
Receivables and payables 584 296
Interim dividend paid on 4 Mar 20X4 60 —
129 debentures issued on | Apr 20X4 — 500
Debenture interest paid on | Jul 20X4 15 —
Purchases 925 —
Income tax on year to 30 Sept 20X3 — 128
Other administration expenses 128 —
Bad debts 158 —
Cash and bank balance 38 —
Ordinary shares of €1 fully called = _ 600

5,960 5,960
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You are informed as follows:

@

®)

©

©)

As at | October 20X3 land and buildings were revalued at €900,000. A third of the cost as well
as all the valuation is regarded as attributable to the land. Directors have decided to report this
asset at valuation.

New fixtures were acquired on | January 20X4 for €40,000; a machine acquired on | October
20X for £€240,000 was disposed of on | July 20X4 for € 180,000, being replaced on the same
date by another acquired for €320,000.

Depreciation for the year is to be calculated on the straight-line basis as follows:
Buildings: 2% p.a.
Plant and machinery: 10% p.a.

Fixtures and equipment: 10% p.a.

Inventory in trade, including raw materials and work-in-progress on 30 September 20X4, has been
valued at 